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About Us

Gulfsands Petroleum plc is an |ndependent public energy company, incorporated in the United ngdom
focussed on growth in the Middle East and North Africa region.

" Highlights

The Group's Core Asset Remains the Block 26 Assets in North East Syria
e Currently in Force Majeure due to UK Sanctions.
e . Involvement in Syrian operations remains suspended during contmuanon of UK Sanctions, with which Gulfsands
remains committed to full compliance.
s According to in-country sources, assets appear to be in good order, matenally undamaged and operatlonaﬂy fit.
e  Unauthorised production in Block 26, without the participation of Gulfsands, continues wuth average producuon of
- approximately 16,500 boepd.throughout 2022.
*  No revenues have been recognised by Gulfsands. :
».  Reported producnon levels appear to demonstrate the reservoir qualrty and that the field continues to be operable.

Oll Theft Continues
s  The Board now has conclusive evidence that the unauthonsed production is undertaken by the Syrian Democratic
Council/Syrian Democratic Forces ("“SDCI/SDF”) and its affiliates.
e  The production is unauthorised, unlawful and breaches the Company’s contractual rights.
e  The Board is determined to protect itself by assertmg and defending its rrights against this and indeed any unlawful
’ activity in respect of Block 26.

Project Hope is an Initiative to Expedite the Return to Operations in Syria for the Benef' t of all Syrians
* Gulfsands is pioneering “Project Hope”®, a Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative whereby intemational energy
companies would retum to operations in North-East Syria, with allocated revenues from cil sales deposited in an .
intemationally administered fund and disbursed to finance early recovery, humanitarian, economic and security projects
.across the country — for the benefit of all Syrian people. .

The Quality.of the Block 26 Assets Remains and is Confirmed by Independent Review, updated in 2022 |

e Confi rmed by Competent Persons Report (‘CPR") undertaken by Independent Consulting Firm Oilfield Production

* - Consultants (“OPC"), originally in 2019 and' updated annually to ensure no material changes.

s +20 years resource life and the potential to produce over 50,000 boepd from extstmg discoveries.

. Prospective portfolio takes the potential production of the field above 100,000 boepd.

s 2C Contingent Resources in Yousefieh, Khurbet East and Al Khairat fields (2P Reserves if it were not for force majeure)
as at 31 December 2022 of 73.5 million boe (net to Guifsands). This is a decrease in 2C resources compared to 76. 4
million boe in the 2021 Annual Report, as a result of unauthorised production during 2022. .

e - Combined unrisked, mid-case Prospective Resources of 545 million boe & risked, Prospective Resources of 134 -
million boe (both net to Gulfsands).

e  Economic Evaluations undertaken as part of the OPC reviews |nd1cate a central range of EMV of Block 26 (Prospective
and Contingent Resources), of $1 billion to $1.5 billion, prior to taking into account above-ground risks.

- Re-entry Planning Contlnues at Pace -
e  Full Field Development Plan of the Yousefieh, Khurbet East and Al Khairat fields, prepared, reviewed and validated by
OPC which is ready to implement, when circumstances allow, and can increase production to over 50,000 boepd.
e CPR confirmed nine drill-ready prospects which could be targeted during an intensive drilling programme when
circumstances allow, which could increase production to over 100,000 boepd.
e Regional technical, finance and administrative team remains in place to implement re-entry plan as soon as viable.
‘e  Strategic Advisory Board established to assist Board and Management wnth complex political, legal and. strateglc
aspects of re-entry. .

Cleaned-up Business Platform for Regional Business Development
; e  Alllegacy liabilities now eliminated following the recent exit from Colombia.
e Capital structure clarified by formalising the conversion terms of the 2017 Facility.
*  Provides ideal platform to launch business development initiatives focusing on the MENA region.
e  These initiatives are suppo'rted by the experienced technical, finance and administrative team assembled in the region.

Establlshment of Middle East Business Hub in Abu Dhabi
e New MENA hub established in the world-renowned Abu Dhabl Global Market (" ADGM ) in the UAE along with a new
MENA-dedicated subsidiary, Gulfsands Middle East Limited ("GMEL").
e  GMEL's focus will be on increasing Gulfsands’ presence in the region, to both contribute meanlngfully to the regional
political discussion surrounding Syria, and to step up business.development activities in the region.
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Capital Efﬁclency and Continued Financial Support from Major Shareholders

..

The Company continues to be funded by the Major Shareholders under the 2017 Secured Term Fmanclng Faclllty
(“2017 Facility”).

The 2017 Facility provides funding to the end of 2023 when it matures and, assuming no default or extension, will be
converted to equity at a price of 5 pence per share.

The business continues to be successfully managed within budgets and financial targets set by the Board.

. At the date of this Report, the Group had unaudited cash available for operations of $1.2 million (of which $0.64 m|II|on

is awaiting electronic transfer settlement) and remains reliant on the Major Shareholders for additional funding, with
£750,000 - £1 million remaining available under the 2017 Facility to cover G8A for the rest of 2023.

The Board continues to discuss funding needs, and sources of fundmg, for 2024 and beyond with the Major
Shareholders. .

Share Tradmg Post Delisting.

The Company’s shares continue to trade through the secondary trading auction facnllty provided by Asset Match
(www.assetmatch.com).
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Strategic-Report
. Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholder,

‘| would like to begin my statement this year by sending our profound condolences and sympathies on behalf of all of
us at Gulfsands to those affected by the devastating earthquakes that impacted Turkey and Syria in early February
2023. Gulfsands continues to do what it can to support the relief effort and encourages any shareholders to donate
through the official charities including the Disasters Emergency Committee and the International Federation of Red
Cross and Red Crescent Societies. Links are available on our website. )

As reported in last year's Annual Report, during 2022, the Company received confirmation of the termination of its last
remaining non-core asset, the LLA-50 licence in Colombia, on environmental grounds. The administrative process of
that termination has now been completed, which resulted in the elimination of all potential related Ilabxlmes ($15.2

million) and the return to-the Company of $1.52 million of restricted cash. ’

This legacy clean -up has now enabled Guifsands to refocus its strategy for the years ahead on building Gulfsands into
a strong, independent energy company focussed on the Middle East and North Africa region. This strategy has two
" core strands:

1. To protect and preserve our rights in relatlon to our World Class Block 26 assets in North-East Syria (currently
under force majeure), and to prepare for, and work with the internatihal community to expedlte areturn to
operations which will benefit all Syrians; and

2. Broader business development in the Middle East and North Afnm ("MENA’) regron

In late 2022, we established our new MENA hub in the world-renowned Abu Dhabi Global Market (“ADGM") in the
UAE, along with a new MENA-dedicated subsidiary, Gulfsands Middle East Limited ("GMEL"). GMEL's focus will be
‘on increasing Guifsands’ presence in the region, to both enable us to contribute meaningfully to the regional political -
discussion surrounding Syria, and also to use our local presence in Abu Dhabi to step up business development
activities in the region.

In respect of Syria, Gulfsands hopes that its physical presence in the region will help it to structure and target its Syrian
initiatives appropriately, taking into account the views of local stakeholders and, in doing so, galvanise regional support °
for such initiatives. Gulfsands remains committed to supporting work by the international community to deliver a long-.
term solution to the situation in Syria. Gulfsands is eager to work with all stakeholders, including those regional
neighbours closely affected by the ongoing conflict, to try to find a way whereby Syria's energy resources can be used
as a catalyst to bring relief to all Syrian people, after more than 12 years of devastating conflict.

Gulfsands continues to pioneer a Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative whereby international energy
.companies would return to operations in North-East Syria, with allocated revenues from oil sales deposited in an
internationally administered fund and disbursed to finance early recovery, humanitarian, economic and security projects _
across the country — for the benefit of all Syrian people who can, and should, benefit from their country’s national
resource endowment and build self-sustainability and resulxence for the future. We call this initiative “Project Hope™

We can only deliver the meaningful change that we aspire to, with the help of our dedicated Gulfsands team, and our
advisers including the Strategic Advisory Board who have continued to add tremendous value dunng the year. | thank
them all for their ongoing support.

1 wish you well for the year ahead and thank you for your faith in Gulfsands. '

Michael Kroupeev
Non-Executive Chairman
25 May 2023

2\,\'8“\ ‘L& .
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Strategic Report
Managing Directo_;’s Statement

- Gulfsands’ dual strategy to Protect and Preserve its rights with respect of its Syrian assets, and to advance
regional business development is at the centre of its initiative to establish a new regional business hub in
Abu Dhabi. Gulfsands is also pioneering a Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative, “PROJECT
HOP ", to help expedite a return to operations and to facilitate the ability for all Syrians to benefit from the
country’s important national resource endowment.

Dear Shareholder

2022 was a year of great progress for Gulfsands as we began buuldmg on.a clean, solid platform to press ahead wnlh
our ambitions in Syria and in the broader MENA region.

-As 2023 began we were however, all shocked by the catastrophic earthquakes that impacted Turkey and Syria in early
February. We all at Gulfsands send our condolences and sympathies to those affected. Gulfsands continues to do
what it can to support the relief effort through the official charities including the Disasters Emergency Committee and
the Inlemaliohal Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. Links are available on our website.

Such events cause us to redouble our efforts to find a way that can enable Syria’s natural resources to make a
meaningful contribution to the relief effort and the country's early recovery. .

The lermination.'of our Llanos-50 licence in Colombia, following: the prior farm-out of the Putumayo-14 licence to
Amerisur Resources Plc in 2018, means that we have now completed our exit from Colombia and all related remaining
legacy liabilities have been eliminated (see Note 2.4 for more details). In respect of LLA-50, we also, recovered $1.52
million 'of restricted cash during the year. We are proud of how we and Agencia Nacional De Hidrocarburos (“ANH")
managed the mutual termination process which was agreed without liability to either the Company or ANH under

- regulations which allow for such termination in situations where .it is not possible to perform activities due to
environmental limitations. )

Environmental concems specific to the LLA-50 area were first raised in 2017 and 2018 as a result of preliminary

'environme_ntal studies; the Environment Impact Assessment (“EIA") and the Medidas de Manejo Ambiental
("MMA")." The Company worked diligently with the ANH and environmental authorities since then, to assess the various
possibilities for development, with the protection of the Lianos natural environment as a priority. After pronouncements
obtained from the local Environmental Agency (Corporlnoqula) confirming the non-viability of .the exploration
program-due to the severe environmental restrictions present within the Block, the parties agreed to the mulual
termination agreement of the Contract.

. The process that we went through, which is specifically addressed under Colombian regulelibns, shows that the oil and
gas industry can make the right and responsible decisions in respect of environmentally sensitive areas, and we are
pleased to have been part of this ground-breaking process in Colombia.

Core Strategy
With the legacy issues all cleaned up and clarity over the conversion terms of our 2017 Secured Financing Facility,
with the ongoing support of our Major Shareholders, we are now able to focus on our core strategy of building Gulfsands
into a strong, independent energy company focussed on growth in the Middle East and -North Afnca region. This
strategy has two core strands:
1. To protect and preserve our rights in relation to our world class Block 26 assets in North-East Syria (currently
' under force majeure), and to prepare for, and work with the intemational commumty to expedlte aretum to
operations-which will benefit all Syrians; and
. 2. Broader business development in the Middle East and Norlh Africa ( MENA") region.

- To help implement this strategy, we have continued to- expand our Strategic Advisory Board which is made up of
individuals with deep experience in the fields of diplomacy, international politics, and post conflict rehabilitation. We
also established our'new MENA hub in the world-renowned Abu Dhabi Global Market ("ADGM") in Abu Dhabi; along
with a new MENA-dedicated subsidiary, Gulfsands Middle East Limited ("GMEL"). GMEL's focus will be on increasing
Gulfsands’ presence in the region, to both enable us to contribute meaningfully to the regional political discussion
surrounding Syria, and also to help us step up our business development activities in the region. .
Syria

.At the core of Gulfsands strategy remains Block 26 in North-East Syna Gulfsands remains the operator of this world
class asset, holding a 50% working interest in the Block 26 Production Sharing Contract (“PSC"), alongside our joint
venture partner Sinochem Group. Block 26 is located in North-East Syria and, due to UK Sanctions, Gulfsands is
unable to be actively involved in operations having declared force majeure in respect of the PSC in 2011. In recent
years our team has also been unable to officially visit Block 26 and so has had to rely on in-country sources and some
third-party reporting to assess the current situation with respect of the assets.

It should be noted that following the Company'’s service of its Notice of Force Majeure and various legal steps taken
by the state oil company, General Petroleum Corporation ("GPC") in Syria, GPC has assumed operational control and
responsibility for the management of Dijla Petroleum Company (“DPC"), the-legal entity established to undertake the
management and control of petroleum production operations and related infrastructure on Block 26.
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Strategic Report
‘Managing Director's Statement

As previously reported, the Group was informed by GPC/DPC that the oil fields in Block 26 were retumed to regular
production in January 2017. In-country sources, as well as several publicly available intemational news sources,
- confirm that this ongoing production continues and have identified_ that this production is undertaken by the Syrian
Democratic Council/Syrian Democratic Forces ("SDC/SDF”) and its affiliates. The average daily production since-2017
has been just below 20 thousand barrels of oil. equivalent per day ("boepd ).

This production is unauthorised, unlawful and breaches the Company's contractual rights. It is described by GPC/DPC
as “stolen”. Reports indicate that the average production during the year was around 16,500 boepd giving total
unauthorised production during 2022 of around 6.0 million barrels of oil equrvalent (2021 7.0 million boe)

The Company has been unable to independently audit these production numbers and has been unable to visit the

fields for several years due to an inability to get security clearance. Gulfsands has not recognised or received any

revenue for any production under the PSC since the advent of Force Majeure. This production does suggest however,
. that the assets appear to be in good order, materially undamaged and operationally fit. -

We continue to monitor the ongoing oil theft on our website and are disappointed to report that the total value of stolen
production since 2017 (at an average oil price of $70 per barrel) has recently exceeded $3 billion (see screenshot
from our website below).

Unauthorised Production from Block 26

Gulfsands’ asscts in Syria (Block 26) remain under force majeure. However, the ficlds continue to be unlawfully produced at

a rate of around 20,000 ROE, per day. Since the.beginning of 2017, when this increased unlawful production was first

reported, the amount of “lost™ hydrocarbons and their potential value are as follows: ~

BARRELS LOST . ' - POTENTIAL VALUE LOST

Barrels of oil cqtﬁvnlcnl (BOE) misappropriated from the Potential value of hydrocarbons misappropriated from
L Syrian People since January 2017 . . the Syrian People since January 2017

42857142 B US$ 3,000,000,000 *

* using an oil price of 870 per BOE

A

- Screenshot from the Company s website 28 Apnl 2023

Gulfsands remains committed to full compliance with apphcable Sanctions and is therefore not involved in any
production or exploration activities on Block 26 as Force Majeure was declared in respect of this PSC upon the
introduction of UK Sanctions (then EU Sanctions) in respect of Syria in 2011. It also remains commmed to follow, and
comply wrth intemational consensus in respect of Syria including UNSCR 2254. °

. Each year that passes represents another year of the devastating Civil War in Syria, and while the active warfare may
be subsiding, the suffering of the Syrian people goes on. March 2023 represented the twelfth anniversary of the crisis.
Political resolution is not something that. Gulfsands can directly influence or predict, however we-support the UN's
initiatives to broker peace and hope that the various stakeholders can find a pathway to:political resolution under the
established framework of UNSCR-2254. Gulfsands continues to step up its engagement with key stakeholders,
including regionatl and international govemments, .and stands ready to play its part, to the extent sanctions allow, in
any agreed UN-sponsored initiatives that can help resolve the current crisis.

We do, however, beligve that the country s natlonal resource endowment should be used for the benefit of all Syrians
and we continue to pioneer a Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative whereby intemnational energy companies’
would retum to operations in ‘North-East Syria, with allocated revenues from oil sales deposited in an intemationally
administered fund and disbursed to finance early recovery. humanitarian, economic and security projects across the,
. country. We call this initiative “Project Hope”

Gulfsands maintains-a key focus on ensuring it is ready to recommence operations when circumstances, including
sanctions, allow, while remaining sanction compliant in the meantime. We work with' independent consulting firm Qilfield
Production Consultants ("OPC") to update the Competent Person’s Report ("CPR”) initially prepared by them in 2019,
based on up-to-date available production information. OPC have also reviewed the Company’s Field Development
Plan (“FDP") and have confirmed the Board's belief that Block 26 could contain over a billion barrels of recoverable
resource with the potential for production levels of around 50,000 boepd from existing discoveries and over 100,000
boepd from a fuII block development incorporating potentlal exploration upside.

OPC also undertook an economic evaluation of the Block 26 project, which they have rolled forward at each subsequent
year-end. While this evaluation did not, of course, take into account any of the above-ground risks associated with the
assets, it did consider a range of possible valuation scenarios which indicated a central range of Expected Monetary
Value ("EMV") of the Block 26 assets, including both Contingent and Prospective Resources of $1-billion - $1.5 billion
(net to Gulfsands)
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Strategic Report
“Managing Director’s Statement

Our technical team has continued with its intemal analysis, incorporating previously un-analysed re-processed seismic
collated prior to the declaration of Force Majeure. We are very encouraged with these intemal results in terms of
resources and the technical quality of the projéct, and at the right time, we mtend to.submit these to our reserves and
resources auditor for further- mdependent review and audit. ’

Details of the current Reserves and Resources are included in the Operations Review on pages 21 — 22.

Business Development -

More broadly, the Company, with the backing of its Major Shareholders, remains focussed on business development
and building out the Company's portfolio both organically and inorganically in the Middle East and broader MENA
region. - The establishment of our MENA Hub in Abu Dhabi is a sign of our commitment to this part of the strategy. We
continue to” explore potential business development and acquisition opportunities, and should any material
developments occur in these areas, the Company will announce as and when any transactions are finalised.

Financing
Costs for the Group remain at a sustainable level, as agreed with the Major Shareholders, whose support we continue
to enjoy. With no revenue from our current portfolio, we continue to rely on the support of our Major Shareholders for-
-our current and future financing. In December 2021, the Major Shareholders {Blake and Waterford) expanded and
. extended the existing 2017 Secured Term Financing Facility (“2017 Facility”). The remaining funding available under
the 2017 Facility is expected to be sufficient to fund the Group through the Facility's scheduled maturity in December
2023. The 2017 Facility is convertible at a fixed price of 5 pence per share at the option of either the Lenders (at any
time), or, assuming no default exists, the Company (at maturity). This fixed conversion price gives comforting visibility
of the capital structure.of the Group going forward. The Board continues to discuss funding needs, and sources of
funding, for 2024 and beyond, with the Major Shareholders — see the Going Concern note for more details.

A drawdown request for £750,000 was made in April 2023. One remaining drawdown of between £750,000 - £1 million,
depending on business requirements, remains available during the second half of 2023. Further, business development
activity funding of up to £2.5 million may be available, subject to Major Shareholder consent and will be assessed as
required, based on opportunities identified.

More details on the 2017 Facility can be found on Note 3.6, and further discussion on Going Concern is included in
Note 1.3a of this Annual Repoﬂ .

Financial Results for the Year '

The Group posted an Operatmg loss for the year of $1.2 million (2021: $2.9 million), and an overall loss for the year of
$1.5 million (2021: $4.2 million). The main reason for the reduction in the Operating loss was the recovery of $1.52
million of Restricted Cash relating to the Llanos-50 licence in Colombia. General and Administrative (*“G&A") costs for
the year (after partner recoveries) were $2.7 million (2021: $2.9 million).

In terms of finance costs, both years included $1.4 million relating to non-cash finance interest costs (2022: £1,196k
[2021: £1,028k]). 2022 also saw a credit of $1.2 million of foreign exchange gains on the 2017 Facility, compared to a
credit of $0.2 million in 2021. These amounts impacted the overall loss for the year but not the Operating loss. See
“the Financial Review on pages 25 — 27 for more details. .

In the absence of revenue, the Group remains reliant on its Major Shareholders for funding and continues to focus on
- controlling costs to an appropriate level given the activities of the Group. After several years of reducing the cost base
-(after partner recoveries) to a range of $2-$2.5 million per annum, increased activity in respect of Syria readiness, the
establishment of GMEL and increased business development activity means that we estimate that G&A (after partner -
recoveries) will mcrease to around $2.5-$3 million going forward.

At 31 December 2022 the Group had total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $1. 1 million, and at the date of ‘
-this Report, the Group had unaudited free cash available for operations of $1.2 million, following the £0.75 million
drawdown under the 2017 Facility in April 2023 (of which $0.64 million is awaiting electronic transfer settlement).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had $14.9 million (£12.3 million) (2021: $15.0 million [£11.1 million]) of debt
outstanding including accrued interest and fees under the 2017 Facility. Under applicable accounting standards (IFRS -
9) this debt is represented in the balance sheet as $13:3 million debt liability and $3.3 million. equity, totalling $16.6
million, to reflect the split between the discounted value of the debt and the resulting equity value as at the time of the
extension in December 2021, and at each drawdown date. Although there is no interest payable under the new terms
of the 2017 Facility, a non-cash effective interest rate of 12% is accrued on the discounted debt liability over the life of

. the facility, to refiect the Directors’ view of the arm’s length cost of funding of the business.

Since the Company's delisting from AIM in April 2018, the Company continues to be a Public Limited Company (a
“PLC") and the Group has maintained strong Corporate Govemance standards during the year including having a
Board of Directors that is independent of both the Major Shareholders and Executive Management. Gulfsands’ shares
continue to trade through the secondary trading auction facility provided by Asset Match. Anyone wishing to trade
Gulfsands’ shares should contact Asset Match directly at www.assetmatch.com.
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Strategic Report . o : .
Managing Director’s‘Statement ‘

Environmental, Social and Governance

As we look forward, Gulfsands continues to commit itself to being a responsible and reliable partner with all its
stakeholders. As a sign of this commitment, we introduced in 2022 a new Sustainability Commiltee, led by myself, to.
ensure that Sustainability considerations are taken into account in everything we do; including our re-entry planning in
Syria and any new business development initiatives that we undertake. You can read more about this in our Strategic
Report where we describe our new Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) strategy which has adopted the UN's
Sustainable Development Goals ("'SDG's") building blocks as core to its framework.

As part of this initiative, we have undertaken a number of eommunihj-baséd programmes including an initiative with
the Chaffinch Trust and Phoenix Space regarding STEM based leaming, particulardy forglrts in regional refugee camps
We intend to expand this, and similar initiatives, in the year ahead.

Outlook for 2023 and beyond .

Gulfsands' strategic focus remains clear — to become a strong, independent energy company focussed on gmwth in

the Middle East and broader MENA region. At the core of this strategy remains our world class 8lock 26 which we vill

' seek to preserve and protect against all challenges, and plan to develop further when we get the opponumty We also
seek to develop that asset funher when we get the opponumty

2023 will also see a step up in our business development activity in the MENA region, speameaded by our newly -
established Abu Dhabi hub :

While wa continue to do all we can to preserve and pratect our rights and assets in Syria we will prepare our readmess
for retuming to operations as soon as circumstances allow. While the macro situation is, of course, beyqnd our control,
we continue to promote Project Hope and lobby the intemational community to find a solution to the situation in Syria
‘for the benefit of all Syrian people. Gulfsands stands ready ta play its pan to the extent sanctions aliow, in any agreed
UN-sponsored initiatives that can help resolve the current crisis.

| would like 10 close by thanking our shareholders tor their continued support and express my gratitude to the entire | -
Gulfsands team, who continue to deliver on our strategic objectives with incredible dedication.
. - . . [

faging Director
May 2023 v
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Strategic Report
Our Business Modgl

In recent years the Group has focussed on aggressively managing costs and strea'rnliﬁing its staffing and organisational
model to match its reduced involvement in operations. The Group now has the platform to focus on its core strategy of

building a strong, independent energy company focussed on growth in the Middle East and broader MENA region. At

the centre of this are the core Block 26 assets where the Company is ready to return to operations, as soon as sanctions
- permit. We also continue to explore potential business development in our core area of expertise, the Middle East and

broader MENA region. ’ ’

Our business model remains based on.the following building blocks:

~ STAKEHOLDER:
VALUE

Corporate-.
. and Financial -
discipline

M Biisiness development strategy)
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+ Commitment to excellence in HSSE and Sustainability

+ Extensive experience in aur core area of the Middle
East and broader MENA region

» Experienced and entrepreneurial léadershir; team

« Access (o stiong technical skills from our in-house
team and our network of advisers *

+ Emphasis on building strong local organisations
and skill sets.

« Utilise regional knowledge and ¢ [
with partners, to identify new opportunities

+ A disciplined approach to the.evaluation
of E&P opportunities

+ Readiness to return 10 Syria with focus on growth
in resources. reserves and sustainable production.

Corporate and Financial discipline {

< carefut stewardship of cash resources

» Strong emphasis on cost control and
cost/benefit analysis

* Robust financial evaluation of all business
development opportunities

* Rigorous approach o compliance and governance.

Biisiness conduct’and.

« Suiving 10 be a partner of choice in the countries
and regions in which we operate

« Establishing strong retationships with our partiers

« Respecting the environment and the health and
safety of our employees and the local communities

* Respecting all relevant international and local
tegjslation and regutations

. Being a good carporate citizen wherever we operate.



Strategic Report _
St_rategic Priorities and Monitoring Performance

<
It is imperative that Guifsands maintains its “Licence to Operate” and therefore, throughout everything we do, we seek
to maintain strong relationships with all the stakeholders with whom we interact. This is the only way to build a truly
sustainable business model. Balancing the requirement of all constltuents is critical to our success and central.to our- .
decision making. . . .

Gulfsands seeks to maintain its “licence to operate® by being a responsible and reliable partner with all stakeholders.

COMMUNITIES
E:NlRONMBﬂ' e
Fermg retcten + Local cconexny
Enengy tranaition + Hurzantorien initives.
EMPLOYEES . 7 ' J +  INVESTORS -
+ Hewlth and mxiety . * a + Stusehoides retums
« Trainivg, | ’ L'CENCE T0 + Corporste governance
R — - orerate B S —
. EtisAVoes ', M P R N ; - Trorcpenxy |
- wesocrig ~ o . .
: GOVERNMENTS PARTNERS & SUPPUERS
\ - + Cyapemtion & coabomtion Fow trotment
« Repotions 8 complance, + Complnnos wath own poicrs
N ’ + ESG stonduds for selection

Gulfsands is focussed on building a sustainable business model that .considers the. social, ervironmental and
govemance impacts of all its projects. Although Guifsands does not currently operate any active projects, its focus on
Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") permeates all business development activities, as well as its Re-Entry
Planning Strategy for Block 26 in Syria. Gulfsands has a proven track record of implementing extensive sustainability
initiatives when it was able to operate within Syria. We are guided throughout by the principles outlined by the UN
. Global Comgact and the UN's Sustainable Development Goals (‘SDG's"). '

Underpinning our development work is compliance with specrf C appllcable legislation and guidance |ncludmg but not -
limited to:
o All applicable Sanctions’ lncludlng those lmposed by UK Government (OFSI) and the US Govemrnent
" (OFAC); and :
o  All applicable Anti-bribery, corruption and money Iaundenng rules and
o  Appropriate Corporate Govemnance Standards; and
o Bestin class Health and Safety standards.

-
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Strategic Report
Strategic Priorities and Monitoring Performance -

Environmental: Protecting the environment

E . Producing hydrocarbons in an environmentally responsible way.

) &.‘ﬁ SUSTAINABLE > &' S POLICIES /

AMBITION U ovmoruny GLCALS BEes
No spiiis or poilution to the local area of s facilites.
- Minimise impact to air quality, biodiversity and water
around its faclities
Any tuture seismic, drilling or fecilities operations
continue to be preceded by Sotio - Environmental
Impact Assessment ("SEIA") stidies

+ Re-entry Planning
Strategy
- Fieki Development Plans

'anviranment

+Focus an y at ions and
practices
- Reduce emissions from power and fuet consumption at ! - Field Development Plans
K its offices and laciities through increasing the use of fow - Gas prioritisation
emissions ar zefo carbon electricity

- Reduce routine flaring. aspire to Zero Routine Flaring
+ Usa (he best available lgd\nology 10 improve enargy
efficiency st its facilities
- Seek usage of assoclated gas for power generation
"+ Priortise gas for further power generation whete
appropriate

+ Study CCS options on its current and future operations
to reduce carbon footprint and move towards net zeso

° » Renewable tachnologies

Explore Its noxt - Evaluate renewable energy projects that could tie in with )

stops’ ln the. . its current operations * - Gas priorilisation /

energy transition i g8 Prioritise gas for funher powes qeneraucn whese '
appiopriate

Social: Sharing the benefits

development of the counlry, alleviating poverty, improving quality of life while aiso building, training, developing

a cohesive and strong Jocal workforce.
Q? SUSTAINABLE ALS POLICIES /
~/ DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES

* Integratad into Re-entry
Ptanning

s Ensure our projects make a difference to local communities and make a positive Impact on the soclo-cconomic

* Run u:mnun‘rty outreach programmes.
+ Support

social objectivas when Gulisands resumes as operator

local community

+ Humanitanan Initiatives

of Block 28 . as pan of re-ontry

+ Look to supply local industrial and domestic consumption planning
directly to moot local onorgy noods

* Build local workforco with related education *+ Humanitarian Initiatives

+ Fulld oporations with focal 23 por of re-cntry
and employees planning

+ Ensuie equal opportunities for all

+ Fair wages and rewarding caraers .

« Ensure equal opportunities for ol . « Training Programs

.+ Adhere to labour fights and safe/secure working : * Well-belng

snvronments L P -.Codo of Conduct and

+ Invest to provida for employees: , Ethics
- Rawarding careers
- Fair pay and condilions
- Training
- Waell-being

* Adherenca to Code of Conduct and Emics

+ Ensure no lrl]ulias lost vrorkdays or work-rolated illnesses A + Haalth and Salaty Policy
for our staff and communities g . + Incorporation into

* Incorporate Health and safely into a.ll management anntsuid Devslopment Plans
choicas, plans and operations /~/|

« Apply best industry practica palicies and procedures in “
these areas and seek (o manage its business and iis

' contractors in accordance therewith '
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Strategic Report
Strategic Priorities and Monitoring Performance

Governance: Setting high standards and being transparent

G Sustainability begins at the top and permeates eur catire Corporate Gavernance structure. We afso operate under

a range of regulations including sanctions and anti-bribery and corruption where we hold ourselves to the highest
of standards through our Code of Conduct and Ethics policy./

SUSTAINABLEG A s POLICIES /
@B GOALS X
» Malnigin iate Cormporate prm— - Independent Board
\goveirianca - Incorporate a focus on sustainabiity . Commiltees

- Ensure all stakeholders are considered in decislon making * Stakeholder engagement

« See Cosporate
Governance Section !
« Minimise the risk of breaches . X « Sanclions Policy
‘"“‘9“" s risis) - Maintain bést practice on comipliance . . « Anti-Bribery and

+ Embed zero lolerance approach to bribery and mopey  © IS QUIRD Carruption Poticy
" c‘""‘”“"“ - Maintain good Government releticnships y @ .
Amknomy .
Iaunﬂorlng . .
« Code of Conduc and

Moot [ogulatory. * Maintain Code of Conduci and Ethics palicy
Jand legal, - | - Embrace zero tolerance approach Lo ethics breaches : Ethics poficy

ragulfeaments
- + Maintain whistle-blower procedures

- Disclose relevant and appropriate information

to stakehoiders 1Baus Ri7eNse
o
* Maintain support of afl relavant Governmenis ,o; @

Gulfsands’ progress and performance in respect of sustainability and ESG is overseen and driven by the Sustainability
Committee, chaired by the Managing Director. By adopting the UN's Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and
applying a consultative mapping process specific to Gulfsands business and ¢ulture, we have selected the SDGs that
apply to the three sustainability pillars, Environmental, Social and Govemnance. As Gulfsands is in Force Majeure and
currently unable to operate its Block 26 assets, the implementation of its sustainability plan captures the key elements
of the go-forward strategy, including Syria Re-Entry Strategy and Plans and Asset Field Development Plans.

- Strategic Advisary Board

Gulfsands’ track record in sustainability

Prior to sanctions/force majeure, between 2009 — 2011, Gulfsands supported a number of initiatives with a level of
financial assistance, activities and logistical Support in Syria, including local communities and ‘'social and charitable
organisations. Efforts were focused towards supporting programmes aimed to improve the health, welfare 'and
prospects of children, women and the disadvantaged members of society, especially for | people living in the North-East
Syria, and central Damascus. These mmahves included: .

Education:

o Schools in wllages local to the Khurbet East and Yousefieh oil fields: Includmg provision of internet access
computers, peripherals and supplies, as well as the refurbishment of dedicated classrooms and programmes
to train teaching staff;

o Financial and logistical support for organisations (such as FIRDOS, BIDAYA, SHABAB, AWRD and the
Syrian Young Scholars), which provide access to education and educational infrastructure such as mobile
Ilbranes micro finance and assistance for the development of mlcro -businesses. .

Healthcare:

o Providing fundmg to BASMA (Children with Cancer) at the Al Buruni University Hospital in Damascus, and
the Children’s Hospital in Damascus;

o BANA (the Syrian institute for_ the Blind), where Gulfsands assisted to complete the construction of a facility
and equipment for a computer-based Braille teaching programme and the construction and population of a

_ digital audio library at BANA's Damascus headquarters;

o  Support to AAMAL, the Syrian Organisation for the Disabled, the Synan Association for Autistic Children
which provides teachmg and support facilities for children with learming difficulties, and the Light and Flowers
Centre for Cerebral Palsy.

Culture: . .
~ o Funding for carbon dating and forensic work on discoveries made during the archaeological excavation of
an ancient Urkesh Palace at the Tell Mozan site near to Block 26 in North-East Syria. Further details about
this important work and the Gulfsands Urkesh Exploration Fund can be viewed at www.urkesh.org .

When the situation permits, Gulfsands will reactivate societal and charitable programmes to improve the health, welfare

and prospects of people living in Nonh East Syria, and central Damascus, specifically children, women and
disadvantaged members of society. .
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Strateglc Report
Strategic Priorities and Monltonng Performance

Recent Community.initiatives

The program, delivered by Phoenix Space in collaboration with the Chaffinch Trust and supported by Gulfsands
completed in February 2023. It provided Syrian refugee children aged between 14-16 years old with an introduction to

Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) fields designed with the inspirationa! theme of space

science.

The Phoenix Space’s Flagship STEM program was created to spark an interest in STEM fields among underprivileged
youth and provide them with the foundational knowledge of algebra, geometry, and Newtonian mechanics, as well as
the introduction to programming and space science. The students participated in a wide range of activities that fostered
their creativity and developed their problem-solving and critical-thinking skills. The introduction to basic scientific
investigation helped the pammpants to understand what science, math, programming and engineering aim to do, and '
what problems they can solve. -

The students who attended the course expressed great enthusiasm for the knowledge they have received and the
activities they completed during the course. Amar (14 years old) is a Syrian refugee who-moved to Jordan four years
ago, says: ' really enjoyed the Phoenix Space program, especially the maths and physics activities such as making
rockets and kites. | think the program will not only help me do well at university but will also help in real life situations.”"

‘The completion of this pilot STEM program marks a significant achievement for the students and the community. To
mark the end of the program, some of the Phoenix Space and Chaffinch Trust team met with John Bell, Managing
Director of Guifsands and the students and facilitators in Jordan.

John Bell commented: “It was my great pleasure to be invited to visit Jordan and see first-hand the inaugural cohort
powered by The Chaffinch Trust and Phoenix Space partnership. Together,- we were able to deliver a STEM based
education program in Amman, Jordan designed for refugee children aged between 14 - 16 years. The completion of
the STEM program marks a significant achievement for the students and the community. The pilot program in Jordan
also marks an important milestone in the collaboration between Phoenix Space and Chaffinch Trust, supported by
Gulfsands, and we look forward to continuing working together by providing displaced and underprivileged youth,
quality education and empowering them to take part in transforming their lives and their communities”.
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Strategic Report

Strategic Pnorltles and Momtormg Performance

. The followmg tables set out our current strategnc priorities and how we seek to progress towards their neahsahon

Strategic Imperatlves

~ Protection, Preservation and
Preparation for Re-entry of
our Syrian interests

Corhprehensive evaluation
of new business
opportunities

Rationalisation of the

Commentary

We continue to seek to preserve a'II contractual rights and méhage business
relationships in a manner con5|stent wnth all relevant sanctions and Force

* Majeure status.

We seek the political support of the mtemat:onal oommumty to help enable a

“controlled and coordinated retumn to operations, when the time is right.

Qur local management team in Syria ensures strong local expertise and
presence.

Technical readiness to retum contmues to be ﬁne—tuned and has been
independently validated by OPC.

Rigorous re-entry planning process in progress to maintain readiness to retum
to conducting operations as soon as circumstances permit (see page 24).
Gulfsands is pioneering “Project Hope® a Humanitarian and Economic
Stimulus initiative whereby international energy companies would retum to

operations in North-East Syria, with allocated revenues from oil sales

deposited in an internationally administered fund and disbursed to finance
early recovery, humanitarian, economic and secunty pro)ects across the
country for the benefit of all Synan people

As the Group increases its focus on _businesé development,. effective
evaluation and risk assessment will become critical to success.

Strong technical team is in place to identify and scrutnmse opportunities as '

they arise.

This exercise is now complete with the confirnation of the mutual termination

portfalio to fit the Company's of the Llanos-50 licence in Colombia in early 2022. ~
financial and risk appetite e This resulted in the elimination of a potential $15.2 million work program
liability and the recovery of £1.22 million {~$1.52 million) of previously
provided-against restricted cash, in May 2022.
¢ The orderly administrative exit from Colombia is now complete with the in-
country branch formally liquidated during 2022, by way of a solvent liquidation.
Official confirmation was received in early February 2023. -
To build a sustainable e Increased focus on Sustainability and ESG in all business activities.
business model including e Continued community, security and environmental a ment proc
maintaining HSES and incorporated into all our operations_ planning, including: all new busmess .
community relations initiatives and Syria Re-entry Planning.
. . * No recordable HSES incidents during the year.
Ensure the Group is « .Maintained control over costs.
efficiently run and well e Maintained support of the Major Shareholders while also explonng potential
financed " additional sources of finance.
e £1.25 million was drawn down under the 2017 Facility during the year.
e A drawdown notice for £0.75 million was issued post year-end in April 2023.
e £0.75-£1 million under the 2017 Facility remalns available for General and
. Administrative costs in H2 2023.
* Upto £2.5 million for potential business development may be available,
subject to Major shareholder consent and will be assessed, as requnred based
on opportunities identified. - .
» Operating costs funded to the éend of 2023.
¢ The Board continues to discuss funding needs, and sources of funding, for
2024 and beyond with the Major Shareholders.
- /
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Strategic Report :
Strategic Pnontles and Momtorlng Performance

' Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs") provide a means of measuring our progress in delivering our strategic objectives.
The Group has identified five key performance indicators in respect of its oorporate strategy. Further sustalnablllty
related KPI's will be developed as operations increase.

f KPI Performance Commentary and target ]

- Contingent 'and Prospective Contingent - In 2015 the. Reserves held for Block 26 in Syria were re-classified
working interest Resources ‘Resources as Contingent Resources as there was no certainty over when
(mmboe): 2020 80.1 the development of the assets would resume (in particular the

' ’ fact that there was no guarantee that it would be within five
2C Contingent Resources and.best 2021 76.4  years). This classification has been maintained since then. The
estimate Prospective Resources 2022 735 Group remains ready to retum to production and reclassify these

. ‘are both stated on an unrisked, ) Contingent Resources back to Reserves as soon as
pre-royalty, working.interest basis circumstances allow.‘

. . . . During 2019 Gulfsands’ technical work was reviewed by Oilfield -
All .Contingent and Prospective Production Consultants (“OPC”) who produced a Competent
Resources relate to Block 26 in Prospective  Person’s Report (‘GPR"). OPC's CPR, which has been rolled
Syria which is currently in Force R pecth _ forward to each subsequent year-end including 31 December
Majeure (see pages 21 - 22 for w20 ees . 2022, resulted in 2C Contingent Resources of 73.5 million boe
further details). 0 ) as at 31 December 2022. All the Contingent Resources numbers
- 2021 546 take into account unauthorised production taken from the Block
: 26 assets during the period (Gross: 2022: 6.0 million boe, 2021:
2022 545 7.0 million boe, 2020: 7.4 million boe). The.2019 CPR performed
by OPC also confimed additional mid-case unrisked
Prospective Resources, relating to nine ‘identified .prospects
within Block 26, of 545 million boe, which has been reviewed
each year remained unchanged since then.
. The Group's business development initiatives will include the
potential acquisition of further Reserves and/or Resources in the
Middle East and broader MENA region, as well as the ldentrﬁcatxon
of additional Resources within Block 26
Capital expenditure ($ million) . .
Accrued expenditure on ) Focussed cost-effective expenditure on exploration, appraisal
exploration for, and appraisal and 2020 0.45 and reserve development activity is an appropriate measure of
development of, oil and gas " 2021 0 success of the Group. In recent years financial discipline has
assets. . reduced the amount of capital expenditure significantly -from

. . 2022 - 0 historic levels but when the circumstances allow, a significant
Expenditures include capitalised capital programme in Syria is to be expected.
internal costs on operated assets
(pages 45 - 46 for further details). Business development initiatives will likely require increased

Capital Expenditure which will be funded on a case by case

basis.

No costs were capitalized during the year.
Safety - lost time incidents ’ Since 2016 operations have been more limited compared to
The number of incidents during the 2020 historical levels, though the Group continues to have staff in
year which resulted in loss of working 2021 Syria and the United Arab Emirates, as well as the UK.
time. ‘Management remains absolutely committed to HSES.-

2022 - )

Total cash and cash equivalents ($ million)

- .Cash and cash equivalents are funds . Ensunng the Group has sufficient cash resources is critical.
immediately available to the Group 2020 1.0
(pages 46:- 47 for further details). 2021 0.9 At year- end £1.5-£2 million remained undrawn under the 2017

: 2022 11 Facility. In April 2023, a drawdown request for £750,000 was

made under the terms of the 2017 Facility.

This leaves one more £0.75 million - £1 million tranche to be
drawn down in H2 2023. These funds are expected to fund the
Company to the end of 2023. ’
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Strategic Priorities and Monitoring Performance

General'and Adfnlnlstratlve cosgs ($ - 2020 24

million) )
Total General and Administrative costs 2021 29
(page 25 for further details). . g

2022 27

It is important fo ensure that the Group is run as efficiently as

possible and with a cost base appropriate for the level of activity.

In the absence of revenue, the Group remains reliant on its
Major Shareholders for funding and continues ‘to focus on
controlling costs to an.appropriate level given the activities of
the Group. ' ’

After several years of reducing the cost base’(after partner
recoveries) to a range of $2-$2.5 million per annum, increased
activity in respect of Syria readiness, the establishment of the
Abu Dhabi strategic hub and increased business development
activity means that we estimate that G&A (after partner
recoveries) will increase to around $2.5-$3 million going
forward. ) :

Gulfsands Petréleum plc Annual Report énd Accounts 2022
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Strategic Report
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's approach to risk management aims to identify material risks as early as possible, to reduce or eliminate
the probability of those risks occurring, and to mitigate, to the greatest extent practicable, the impact on the Group if

an event does occur.

All staff within the‘Grbup take an active responsibility for identification of potential risks to the Group, to ensure these
are communicated to the appropriate person, and to participate in the mitigation processes.

The Group considers its principal risks and uncertainties to be as follows:

Geopolitical Risks

_Nature of Risk

Mitigation .

The Group's core assets are based in Syria. This
country continues to be subject to political uncertainty
and its society and infrastructure have been damaged
significantly by civil war. ) '

The Group's interests in Syria are in Force Majeure as
a consequence of UK Sanctions being imposed. There
is no indication that these sanctions will be relaxed in
the immediate future: .

It is not possible at this stage to predict how the Syrian
‘authorities will interpret the contractual position relating
to the Company’s interests once sanctions are lifted and
activity resumes, including the extension of the licence
period to take account of the period of Force Majeure.

This inability to operate also means that Gulfsands has
no control over the day-to-day operations of Block 26,
including the control of any unauthorised production.

The Group's ability to mitigate these risks is limited.
However, the Group liaises closely with the UK
authon'iies, and other"available resources, to monitor and
assess the geopolitical situation. '

The Group has declared Force Majeure and believes that
its legal rights should be preserved upon its retum to
operations when circumstances allow. '

The Group is undertaking extensive work to prepare itself’
for the time when sanctions are lited, and it can resume
operation qf the  assets with our partners.

The Group is not affiliated to any government, political

| party, religion, ethnic grouping or similar organisation, but

seeks to maintain good relationships with communities
and important local stakeholders.

Where possible, and within the constraints of UK
Sanctions, the Group continues to monitor information -
available in respect of field and geopolitical activity in
respect of Block 26 and seeks to defend its rights against
any unauthorised or unlawful activity. ’

Gulfsands continues to step up its engagement with key
stakeholders, including regional and international

| governments, and stands ready to play its par, to the

extent sanctions allow, .in any agreed UN-sponsored
initiatives that can help resolve the current crisis.

)
The Company is pioneering °“Project Hope” a
Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative whereby
international energy companies would retum to
operations in North-East Syria, with allocated revenues

" from oil sales deposited in an intemationally administered

fund and disbursed to finance early recovery,
humanitarian, economic and security projects across the
country ~ for the benefit of all Syrian people.

"Financing_

Nature of Risk

Mitigation

The Group currently has no revenue, with its only
producing assets being in Syria and subject to UK
Sanctions. .

The Group is dependant entirely upon extemnal
financing to support any activity but its ability to attract
and support such financing is constrained severety by
the uncertainty surrounding the future of its principal
assets. . .

The Group is therefore particularly reliant on the

- continued support of its Major Shareholders who have
been the only sources of significant funding over the
past 7 years. ’

The cost base and funding requirements of the business
are continually being assessed to ensure ongoing
efficiency and to minimise the requirements for cash
injections.

General & Administrative costs remain a key focus and
current committed financing from the Major Shareholders.
is expected to fund the Group to the end of 2023.

The Board maintains a close relationship with its Major

~'Shareholders and "seeks to confim regularly their’

willingness to continue to support the Group.

The Board continues to discuss funding needs, and
sources of funding, for 2024 and beyond with the Major -
Shareholders. . [
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Strategic Report
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Further discussion regarding the current funding
situation is contained in the going concem note 1.3a to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Board continues to assess additional potential
sources of financing particularly in respecf of business

.development initiatives.

‘| Shareholder Conoentration,

Nature of Risk

Mitigation

above, a large proportion of the shares in the Company
are held by two shareholders holding approximately
'57.75% and .25.62% respectively (the “Major
Shareholders”).

»
\

While access to sources of finance is an absolute
priority, concentrated share ownership can enable
those shareholders.to exert influence-on the Board and
management which may reflect their interests to the
detriment of the minority sharehotders.

In particular, Waterford is unilaterally able to propose
and pass, or block an ordinary - resolution of the
Company, and Waterford and Blake can together
propose and pass, or block a specnal resolutlon of the
Company

‘| As a result of the financing constraints referred to

Even post delisting, the Board has sought to continue to
maintain high levels of corporate governance.

Following delisting from AIM in April 2018, a secondary
market trading facility (off-market dealing facility,
www.assetmatch.com) has been secured to enable
existing shareholders and new investors to trade Ordinary |
Shares by matching buyers and sellers through periodic
auctions. .

| Health, Safety, Environment, Secunty and Sustainability

Nature of Risk ‘

Mitigation

The Group's licence to operate is cntlcally dependent
on:

» the protection of the health and safety of its staff, its
contractors and members of the community in which
it operates;

sthe protection of the environment in which it
operates; and

» the security of its interests and assets.

Failure in respect of these matters could severely
impact on the Group’s ability to work and obtain further
business in its areas of operation as well as putting it at
risk of legal and financial liabilities.

The Group maintains best practice policies and
| procedures in these areas and seeks to manage its
business and |ts contractors ln accordance therewith.

During the Covid-19 crisis Guifsands put the health and

safety of its staff as a priority-and sought to follow all -

applicable government guidance in areas where |t_
operated. . ’

The Group has reviewed its internal policies and adopted
provisions to allow employees to work effectively remotely
when necessary. . .

The implementation .of the Companys Sustalnablllty
framework and Sustainability Committee have increased
the focus on-this important area.

' Compliance: Bribery and Corruptlon UK Sanctlons

| Nature of Risk ~

Mitigation

The Group's  licence to operate depends on its
continued compliance with- a range of relevant
regulatlons including those relating to sanctlons and
bribery and con'uptron

These regulations are complex, and interpretation of
their implications requires the Group to seek advice
which is sometimes not-definitive. .

The Group’s failure to comply with such regulations
‘could have a significant impact on its ability to operate
as a result of reputational damage, legal habrmy and
financial loss.

C)

The Group has a Code of Business Conduct which
applies to all activities of the Group. This is complemented
by specific sanction and anti-bribery guidance and
policies. Business practices are reviewed against this

‘code, guidance and palicies. -

Formal training and'moniton'ng is provided across the |
Group particularly in respect’ of bribery, corruptlon and
sanctions compliance.

Professional advice is sought where required and periodic
briefi ing is received to update the Board on developments
in the regulatory framework
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Prmclpal Risks and Uncertamtles )

Reliance on Key Sk}ff

Nature of Risk

Mitigation

The Group has a small staff of experienced people and

‘relies heavily on their knowledge and experience in
developing and delwenng the Group's strategic
objectives.

There is therefore a heightened risk of loss of
management continuity and impairment of the business
model.

The Group undertakes internal succession planning
where possible together with maintaining contact with a
network of experienced people in the industry, including
consultants on whom it may call if required.

Cof\tracts with key personnel have notice periods that

allow sufficient time to source replacements. N

| Business Development and Operational Success/Failure

Nature of Risk

Mitigation

The Oil and Gas industry is a high-risk industry
especially in the exploration and appraisal phases of
projects. . .

-The Group's business development strategy is, to a
significant extent, dependent upon achievement of
exploration and operational success.

Failure to select and implement successful projects will
impact the Group's financial performance and ability to
finance the growth and developmerit of the Group.

Technical risks are mitigated by careful analysis of the
available geological, geophysical and petrophysncal data
prior to dnllmg

Flnanclal risks are mitigated by rigorous economic
modelling based on chance of success and a range of °
possible outcomes, prior to an acquisition, and before
commencement of individual operations.

An integrated approach is critical to all business
development decisions.

.

,
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Strategic Report
Operations review

Syria

' Gulfsands is the operator of the Block 26 Production Sharing Contract (“PSC") and holds a 50% working
interest in the PSC along with Sinochem Group (also 50% working interest).

" Gulfsands is not pfesently involved in any p_réduction or exploration activities on Block 26 as Forée Majeure
- has been declared in respect of the PSC following the introduction of UK Sanctions in respect of Syria.

' The Group seeks to ensure that it -remainsvcomplia'nt with- all app]icai‘:le sanctions . in relation to Syria and
intends to return to production and exploration activities as soon as permitted. -

Position during 2022

*  Continued compliance with applicable sanctions.

e According to in-country sources, Block 26 facilities, wells and mfrastructure are understood to remaln secure
and predominantly functional. : ¢

e Unauthorised production, undertaken by the SDC/SDF and its affiliates, has continued during the year at a-
rate of approximately 16,500 boepd.

e  Office presence maintained in Damascus. . .

e Increased focus on readiness to re-enter when permitted, including contmued intemal technical re-work of
existing data, as recommended in the Competent Persons Report ("CPR") by OPC.

¢  Continued to develop the humanitarian and economic stimulus Project Hope.

Block 26 is located in North-East Syria. The PSC grants to the joint venture (i.e. Gulfsands and Sinqchem) the exclusive
right for the exploration, development and production in an area designated as "Block 26". This includes the rights to

the benefits of production from discovered fields for a minimum of 25 years from the date of initial commercial
" production from such development area, with an extension of a further ten years thereto at the partners’ option.
Gulfsands' joint venture partner in Block 26 is Sinochem Group, a Chinese conglomerate primarily engaged in the
production and trading of chemicals and fertilizer, and exploration and production of oil.

Under the Group's operatorship, two oil fields -containing reservoirs of Cretaceous age have been discovered,
appraised and approved for Development within the PSC area, Khurbet East (2008) and Yousefieh (2010). During
2011, combined production from these fields reached a level of just under 25,000 barrels of oil per day before the
impact of EU/UK Sanctions resulted in the curtailing of production levels. Two additiona! oil and gas discoveries within
reservoirs of Triassic age have been identified within the Kurrachine Dolomite and Butmah formations, beneath the
Cretaceous aged oil producing reservoir in the Khurbet East field. Development approvals for these Triassic discoveries
were- granted in 2008 and 2011 respectively. A further oil discovery was made late in 2011 by Gulfsands in the
Cretaceous aged reservoirs penetrated by the Al Khairat exploration well, a few kilometres east of the Yousefieh field.
This discovery awaits further evaluation and development work and is not currently incorporatéd into the Company's
existing Production Licence areas, although an appllcatlon has been prepared and will be submitted as soon as
sanctions allow.

Operation of the Khurbet East and Yousefieh fields during the production phase has been undertaken by Dijla
Petroleum Company ("DPC"), a joint operating company formed between Gulfsands, Sinochem and Syrian state oit
company, General Petroleum Corporation (“GPC”) for the purpose of undertaking the management and contro! of
petroleum production operations and related infrastructure on Block 26. Staff of both Gulfsands and GPC were
previously seconded to DPC. As a consequence of the EU's imposition of further sanctions in Syria which came into
effect in early December 2011, in accordance with the-terms of the PSC for Block 26, a Notice of Force Majeure was
.served on GPC, the principal counterparty to the PSC and the Syrian Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral Resources.
The imposition of these sanctions prohibited Gulfsands’ involvement in petroleum production operations in Syria and
restricted its activities in relation to Block 26 generally, and unless and until these sanctions (now UK Sarictions) are
lifted or otherwise modified so as to pemit the Company's retum to its prior involvement in those activities, the
Company will be obliged to maintain its current position with respect to Block 26 PSC matters.

It should be'noted that following the Company's service of its Notice of Force Majeure and various legal steps taken
by GPC, GPC has assumed operational control and responsibility for the management of DPC. Since the introduction
of EU (now UK) Sanctions in early December 2011 and the subsequent declaration of Force Majeure under the PSC,
Gulfsands has had no involvement with the operations of DPC, and Gulfsands staff seconded to DPC have been
withdrawn, leaving DPC under the management of GPC secondees.

The Group has ensured that it remalns compllant wnth all applicable sanctions.in relatlon to Syna and intends to return
to production and exploration activities as soon as permitted and conditions allow.

Exploration

The final exploration period of the PSC was due to expirein August 2012, nine months after the declaration of Force
Majeure. The Company believes it is well positioned to progress a significant exploration work programme and will
make its case for the reinstatement of this lost time period to undertake such a programme at-the time of re-entry. This.
exploration work programme and related prospects were reviewed by OPC as part of the CPR process.
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Production :

Since December 2011, Gulfsands has received periodic updates from DPC on hydrocarbon ‘volumes produced from
the Group's Syrian fields under DPC's operation. These updates have often been received on an infrequent and
irregular basis and it has not been possible for Gulfsands to audit or verify the content of the information provided.

In early 2017 the Company was informed by DPC that the Group’s Syrian fields had returned to significant and regular
production. In-country sources, as well as several publicly available international news sources, confirm that this
ongoing production continues and have identified that this production is undertaken by the Syrian Democratic
Council/Syrian Democratic Forces ("SDC/SDF") and its affiliates. The unauthorised production covers ail three fields
of Khurbet East, Yousefieh, and now Al Khairat. The production is described by GPC/DPC as “stolen”. :

The average production rate from the three fields combined between January 2017 and 31 December 2022 appears
to be around 20,000 boepd, and reports indicate that the average production during the year was around 16,500 boepd
giving total unauthorised production during 2022 of around 6.0 million barrels of oil equivalent made up of 5.4 'million
barrels of oil and 3.8 Bef of gas {2021: 7.0 million boe) .

Cumulative grnss unauthorised production since early 2017 is approximately 40. 8 million boe (2017 6.4 million barrels,
* 2018: 6.9 million barrels, 2019: 7.1 mllllon barrels, 2020: 7.4 million barrels, 2021 7.0 million barrels, 2022: 6.0 million
barrels).

The Company has been unable to independently audit the precise production numbers from DPC and has been unable
to visit the fields for several years due to an inability to get security clearance. The Company, whilst remaining
sanctions compliant, continually seeks to gain additional information regarding the ongoing status of production
‘operatlons at its Syrian fields.

This production is unauthon’sed unlawful and breaches the Company’s contractual rights and the Board is determined
to protect itself by asserting and defending its rights agalnst this and indeed any unlawful activity in respect of Block
26. The Group has not recognised or received any revenue for this or indeed any production, post the imposition of
UK Sanctxons ‘It has however, updated its remammg recoverable resource volumes for these fields, based on this new
production information.

Since the date of the first commercial oil production from the Block 26 area by the Group, cumulative oil production

from the Group's fields is understood to have exceeded 66.4 million barrels by year end 2022 (End of 2021: 60.4 million

barrels), of which around 47.7 million barrels (2021: 41.7 million barrels), have been produced smce Force Majeure
.was declared, and without the mvolvement of Gulfsands.

Reserves and Resources
Up until 2015, hydrocarbons related to the known discoveries of Yousefieh and Khurbet East were classified as
Reserves. During 2015 these Reserves were reclassified to Contingent Resources as a result of the continuing UK
Sanctions in Syria. The Company recognises that it cannot give a definite timeline’ for the resumption of the
- development of the discovered fields within Block 26 that was suspended following the declaration of Force Majeure
in 2011. In such a circumstance the SPE'PRMS Guidelines suggest that if the (re)commencement of development
cannot be guaranteed to be within five years from the date of evaluation then the volumes of hydrocarbons should be
classified as Contingent Resources rather than Reserves.. The Company concluded in December 2015 that the
uncertainty in any timeline over which UK Sanctions in Syria may be lifted required that the volumes of oil, gas and
condensate previously reported as Syrian Reserves be reclassified by the Company as Contingent Resources.

Since 2015 this classification as Contmgent Resources has contmued even though as at 31 December 2022, the

Board believes that UK Sanctions will be lifted well within five years (its base case assumphon for the impairment

~ review is three years). The Board will continue to monitor all activity focussed on resolving the situation |n Syria and
will reconsider the basis for reversmg this reclassification in line with any future developments. -

. Over recent years, the Gulfsands team has undertaken significant internal technical workto review estxmated resources
as part of the preparation for its return to Syria when circumstances allow. During 2019, independent consultants,
Oilfield Production Consultants (“OPC") were commissioned to review, audit and validate this work, and prepare a
Competent Persons Report (“CPR") for the Board. This exercise included a comprehensive review of the Block 26
exploration and production interests (Contingent Resources and Prospective Resources) in accordance with the
definitions and guidelines set forth.in the 2018 Petroleum Resources Management System (‘PRMS") approved by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers (“SPE").

In estimating the Resources, it has been assumed that the period. of time elapsed during which the Group has declared
Force Majeure.on its Block 26 development and production activities, will ultimately be added as an equivalent time
period extension to the contractually specified Exploration Period and Product:on Concess:on Periods, though there
can be no guarantee that this extensuon will be granted.
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Contmgent Resources . '

The Group has evaluated, and was supported in its view by the CPR, that |t holds within the Massive, Butmah and
Kurrachine reservoirs of Khurbet East field, and the Massive of the Yousefieh field, working interest basis 2C
Contingent Resources of 61.0 mmbbls of oil and condensate, and 30.4 bcf of gas (equals 5.1 boe). The Group has also
_evaluated, and was supported in its view by the CPR, that the oil discovery at Al Khairat contains 2C Contingent
Resources of 10.3 mmbbls of oil (working interest basns) [

The CPR was originally undertaken effective 1 January 2019 but has been rolled forward, updated and reconfirmed as
of 31 December 2022, taking into account amongst other things the production that has occurred dunng 2019, 2020,
2021 and 2022.

Unrisked working interest basis
As at 1 January 2023

. . ! Constituent 1C 2C 3C
.Syria Block 26 : © :
(Working interest 50%) -
) ; . Qil, Condensate and Gas, ‘383 63.3 89.6
Khurbet East and Yousefieh mmboe
Al Khairat discovery ] Qil and Gas, mmboe 4.8 10.2 18.1

* Total ) ) mmboe 43.1 . © 735 107.7
Please note, certain figures may not add up due to rounding. :

“Qil" includes condensate and NGLs. :

Gas is converted to mmboe at the conversion factor 1 bef = 0.1667 mmboe

Prospective Resources ' ’ -

OPC reviewed the portfolio of nine identified prospects within Block 26, and in doing so, validated them as Prospects
under PRMS definitions and also estimated associated Prospective Resources, on a risked and un-risked, pre-royaity
basis. This work was rolled forward, updated. and reconfirmed as of 31 December 2022, and is summarised below:

. \ Prospective Resourceg {Unrisked)

The following table is a summary of OPC's estimate of the oil and gas Prospective Resources (Unrisked) attributable
to Block 26 as of 1 January 2023. The figures are based on Gulfsands net 50% working interest ownership:

Constituent - __ lLow Mid High
Total Qil - : mmstb . 154 320 542
Total Gas ) . Bscf - 877 ° 1,355 - 1,945

Total Resources mmboe 300 __545 866

Prospective Resources (Risked) .
The following table is a summary of OPC's estimate of the oil and gas Prospective Resources (Risked) attributable to .
Block 26 as of 1 January 2023. The figures are based on Gulfsands.net 50% working interest ownership:

- Risked HCIIP Risked Prospective Resources

' (mmboe) - : (mmboe) . --
Total — . a19 138

Economic Evaluation

OPC also undertook an economiic evaluation of the Block 26 project and have updated such evaluatlon penodlcally
since, though of course these evaluations did not take into account any of the above—ground risks associated with the
assets.

_ Any valuation is sensitive to input assumptions including discount rates used, preservation of current PSC terms, oil
price assumptions, timing of resumption of operations, and anticipated capex and opex costs including cost inflation.
The OPC Economic Evaluations considered these factors, including related sensitivities. This sensitivity analysis
indicates a central range of Expected Monetary Value ("EMV") of the Block 26 assets, mcludlng both Contlngent and
Prospective Resources of $1 billion - $1.5 billion (net to Gulfsands)

Note that this economlc.evaluatlon was independent of the |mpa|rment review undertaken for the valuation of the
Investment in Dijla Petroleum Company, which is explained in more detail in note 4.2.
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Sanction compliance

Gulfsands has taken extensive legal advice with respect to its obligations under the sanctions in place and has liaised
regularly with relevant regulators’ and advisers and has generally acted cautiously to be confident of remaining
compliant with all relevant sanctions. The Board is determined to ensure that the Group's activities remain compliant,
and management will continue to liaise closely with the relevant regulatory authorities and advisers to ensure this
objective is achieved. .

Plans For 2023
Gulfsands will continue to do all it can to preserve and protect its nghts and assets in Syna as well as prepare its
readlness for returnlng to operatlons as soon as circumstances allow.

While the macro situation is, of course, beyond the control of Gulfsands alone, management will continue to lobby the
international community to find a solution to the situation in Syria for the benefit of all, especially the Syrian people.
- Gulfsands stands ready to play its part, to the extent sanctions allow, in any agreed UN-sponsored initiatives that can
help resolve the current crisis. We intend to continue this dialogue with all stakeholders throughout the year. ’

In particular, Gulfsands is pioneering “Project Hope” a Humanitarian and Economic Stimulus initiative whereby
intemational energy companies would return to operations in North-East Syria, with allocated revenues from oil sales
- deposited in an internationally administered fund and disbursed to finance early recovery, humamtanan economic and
security pro;ects across the country — for the benefit of all Synan people.

More details of project Hope are avallable on the Company s website at .guifsands.com.
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Syria Re-Entry Planning

Gulfsands’ core Syria strategy is to Protect and-Preserve its rights related to Block 26 and to Prepare for re-entry into
Syria and a return to operations. While the Block 26 PSC remains in force majeure due to applicable sanctions,
Gulfsands undertakes its re-entry planning in a strict observance of applicable sanctions and laws.

" Guifsands builds ESG and sustainability cons.iderations into all its re-entry planning, as well as respecting the UN

Security Council Resolution 2254, which appears to be the accepted blueprint for a Future Syria. It also maintains
compliance with all local laws to protect its rights under its PSC while it remains in force majeure.

=iz | SH—

Current Production
20k boped

Syrian Civil War

resulting in operational

disruption and EU
Sanctions

PROTECT .

Execution of full field

development plan and . - .

reserves growth , T »
program :

Post-Sanction Target
100k boped. -

E E PREPARE

Gulfsands has undertaken a.significant amount of internal technical work, formalising and analysing existing data,
which has also been subject to a Competent Persons Report review by OPC as part of this re-entry preparation. The
OPC review covered a Comprehensive Field Development Plan of the Contingent Resources (fomerly Reserves) as
well as a Comprehensive Exploration Plan for Prospective Resources within the exploratlon portfolio of identified
prospects.

The Board believes, and the CPR has confirmed that upon re-entry, on a gross basis,‘BIock 26 could be proven to
contain over a billion barrels of recoverable resource with the potential for production levels of around 50,000 boepd
from existing discoveries in the near term, and over 100, 000 boepd from a full block development lncorporatlng the
potential exploration upside.

In addition to the technical aspects of the Compan)rs projects, Gulfsands’ re-entry plan also incorporates the following
key objectives:

1.

2.
3.

Support the safety and security of our in-country team and national staff.
Stay Legal — understand and ensure compliance with local and international laws & all applicable sanctions.
‘Protect and preserve our existing asset value in Syria by continuing to meet our PSC and other
contractual obligations where possible under sanctions and mitigate value erosion and damage by non-state
actors.
Protect the reputation of Gulfsands and partners and maintain support for Guifsands and its partners
with stakeholders globally and in-country. .
Protect the environment: ensuring clean-up of current operations in Block 26 and implementation of leading
sustainable oil field practices.
Sharing the benefits: Gulfsands will ensure immediate benefits flow to the Syrian people, through the
generation of employment and training and community outreach programs, as well as specific Humanitarian
initiatives.
implement Gulfsands Re-Entry and Re-Engagement Strategy which allows us to actively. and safely
recommence Syrian Operations when farce ma;eure and sanctions are lifted. This includes:

Stakeholder Engagement

ESG Plan Implementation

Adopt HSSE & Operational Management System

Joumey to 100,000 barrels per day FOP Execution

Implementation of Legal and Financial frameworks and processes :
- IT and Digitisation; roll out
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Selected operational and. financial data

Year ended “ Year ended

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

$'000 $'000.

General and Administrative costs (2,689) (2,866)

_ Opérating Loss ' '(1,2’26) (2,867)
Loss before taxation (1,496) (4,191)
E&E cash expenditure — —
Cash and cash equivalents ] 1,108 . 884 .
Restricted cash balances l - ' ’ 500 ' 500

Financial highlights for the year ended 31 December 2022
e The loss for the year from continuing operations was $1.5 million (2021: $4.2 million).
' o  The Operating Loss for the year of $1.2 million (2021: $2.9 million).

e $1.52 million of restricted cash from the Llanos-50 licence was recovered whlch was the main
contributor to the reduction in the Operating Loss.

*  General and Administrative costs decreased by $0.2 million in the year due to specific corporate finance
initiatives in 2021. ’

¢ The Group continues to hold its investment in its Syrian interest at a camying value of $102.0 million. *

e Two funding tranches of £0.5 million and £0.75 million were drawn down during the year (in March 2022
and November 2022 respectively) under the 2017 Secured Témm Financing Facility ("2017 Facility”).

e . As at year-end two further tranches of up between £750,000 and £1 million each were available on or
after 31 December 2022 and 30™ June 2023.

o In April 2023, a drawdown request for £0.75 million was made under the terms of the 2017 Facility.

. Consequently, as at the date of this report, one drawdown of between £0.75-£1 million remams to be
drawn down in H2 2023. -

e  An additional tranche of up to £2.5 million for specific. potentlal busmess development activity may be .
available subject to Major Shareholder consent.

e Cashandcash equwalents were $1.11 million at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: $0. 88 mllllon)

INCOME STATEMENT
The Group reported a Ioss before tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 of $1.5 million (2021 $4.2 m||I|on)

General and admlnlstratlve expenses Year ended Year ended
, ' ", 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

- . - $°000 $'000

Gross General and Administrative Expenses i . 3,265 : 3,442

Partner recoveries’ ) . ’ . (576) - (576)

General and Administrative Expenses 2,689 2,866

General and Administrative Expenses for the yea'r.ended 31 December 2022 totalled $2.7 million (2021: $2.9 million).
This decrease was due to specific corporate finance pro;ects undertaken in 2021, such as the Mandatory Offer initiative
in 2021. '

The Company's Llanos-50 licence was officially terrmnated by mutual consent with the ANH in May 2022 Further
detalls of the Llanos 50 and its termmatlon are explalned in note 2.4 to the Consolndated Financial Statements

Because the termmatlon was only conﬁrmed in 2022, as at 31 December 2021, an intangible exploration and evaluation
(‘E&E") asset relating to Llanos-50 was' maintained at $2.29 million representing capitalised expenditures from
inception to-date, albeit fully impaired. Alongside this, a restricted cash balance of $1.8 million held as a performance
guarantee in relation to the minimum work obligation under this contract was also fully provided against as it was in
prior years. In May 2022, £1.22 million (~$1.52 million) of this restricted cash was released back to the Company by-
the ANH. The accounting for both these'items is included in 2022, with the elimination of the E&E asset (no P&L effect
as it was fully |mpa|red) and the recovery of the performance guarantee (whlch created a credit to P&L of $1.52 million).

Foreign exchange gains totalled $1.21 million- (2021 $0.18 million galns) Non-cash Interest on the 2017 Facility was
$1.4 million in 2022 and 2021 (2022: £1,196k, 2021: £1,028k).
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BALANCE SHEET
Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The Group's E&E assets are held at a net book value of $nil.at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: $nil million). .
The Lianos-50 licence was written off in 2022 as a result of the mutual termination of that contract, though there was
no P&L impact as it had already been fully impaired. Certain exploration licence costs in_Syria which are in force
majeure, remain but have been fully impaired.

Syria Investmenl

The Group's investment in Dijla Petroleum Company (* DPC") the entity established in Syna pursuant to the Block 26
PSC, to administer the Group's Syrian oil and gas development and production assets (and which for valuation
purposes is considered to-also include the related. rights to production under theé PSC), is recorded as a “Financial
asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income”. Due to the unknown duration of UK Sanctions in force
against Syria and uncertainty over the eventual outcome of events in the country, any valuation attributed to the
investment is highly subjective and there are a wide range of possible fair value measurements. Management reviewed
its internal valuation methodology and continues to believe that as a result of the passage of time and the high degree
of judgement required, it is not possible to reliably estimate the investment's fair value. Management, continues to
consider that the historical cost figure of $102 million, represents an appropriate estimate of fair value, given there is a
wide range of possible fair value measurements, being the last valuation which could be reliably determined. This value

. is reviewed at least annually for impairment and any impairment losses recognised through the Income Statement.

At 31 December 2022, management has carried out an :mpalrment review, using an economic mode! of the esbrnated

. future cash flows that could be generated in respect of the Group's entitiement volumes (Contingent Resources) in
Block 26 (see note 4.2 for details). This model was reviewed and updated as part of the Competent Person Report .
update review by OPC. The Board continues to consider that its position in respect of its Block 26 interests remains
strong, and expects Gulfsands and its partner’s rights will be honoured and that it will be able to return to operational
control.of its interests in accordance with the terms of the PSC, as soon as circumstances permit. While no definite
timeline can be substantiated for the resumption of the full field development of the discovered fields in Block 26, the

: Board continues to believe that the UK Sanctions will be lifted, or waivers and/or licences received, within the next five
years and, based on the current situation in’ Syria, the Board has concluded, as it did last year, that its “base case”
assumptlon for impairment calculation purposes to be'a resumption of operatlons in three years

The ‘base case' economic model calculates as at 31 December 2022, a gross contractor undiscounted NPV(0) of
- $2.74 billion, meaning a Gulfsands 50% interest undiscounted NPV(0) of $1.37 billion, as well as Gulfsands ‘50%
interest discounted NPV(10) of $491.5 million and Gulfsands 50% interest discounted NPV(15) of $334 million.
Therefore, management believes no, mpatrment is necessary and has maintained the $102 million carrying value on
the Balance Sheet at year end. Following consideration, management conclude that it is premature to revalue the
carrying value upwards to refiect the potential NPV values, glven the ongoing risks and uncertainties associated with .
the Synan assets. - . -

na separate exercise, initially as part of the 2019. CPR, OPC undertook an economic evaluation of the Company’s .
entire Block 26 assets including both Contingent and Prospective Resources. This evaluation is updated each year-
- end and while it does not take into account any of the above-ground risks associated with the assets, it does consider
a range of possible valuation scenarios and continues to indicate a central range of risked Expected Monetary Value
("EMV”) of the Block 26 assets, including both Contingent and Prospectlve Resources, of $1 billion - $1.5 billion (net
share to Gulfsands) .

The Dlrectors have reviewed the carrying value of this Financial Asset held at fair value through other comprehensive
‘income, at 31 December 2022 and are of the opinion that the carrymg value although subject to sngmﬁcant uncertainty,
remains appropnate in the circumstances.

Financing . .
During the year, the thirteenth tranche of £0.5 million ( $0 6 million) and fourteenth tranches of £0 75 million (~$1 0
million) each of the 2017 Facility were drawn down in March and November respectively.

In April 2023, a drawdown request for £750, 000 was made under the terms of the 2017 Facnliiy One remaining tranche )
remains available for drawdown of between £750,000 anhd £1 million which i is expected to be drawn.down in H2 2023 -
and fund the company to the end of 2023.

The 'matuﬁty of the 2017 Facility is 31 December-2023. The 2017 Facility is convertible at a fixed price of 5 pence perA
share at the option of either the Lenders (at any time), or, assuming no default exists, the Company (at maturity).

. Further details of the 2017 Facility are outlined in note 3.6.

-
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had $14.9 million (£12.3 million) (2021: $15.0 million [£11.1 million]) of debt
outstanding including accrued interest and fees under the 2017 Facility. Under applicable accounting standards (IFRS
9) this debt is represented in the balance sheet as $13.3 million debt liability and $3.3 million equity, totalling $16.6
million, to reflect the split between the discounted value of the debt and the resulting equity value as at the time of the
extension in December 2021, and at each drawdown date. Although there is no interest payable under the new terms
of the 2017 Facility, a non-cash effective interest rate of 12% is accrued on the discounted debt Ilabnhty over me life of
the facility, to reflect the Dlrectors view of the arm’s Iength cost of funding of the business.

Cash flow
The total change in cash and cash equivalents during the year was an in-flow of $0.2 million (2021: $0.1 million net
out-flow). Net cash outflow from operating activities during the period totalled $1.3 million (2021: $3.0 million), which -
was after taking into account the receipt of $1.52 million of restricted cash securitised as collateral on the Llanos-50
was released back to the Company by the ANH, following confirmation of the mutual termination of Llanos 50. Net
cash received from financing activities totalled $1.6 million (2021: $2 9 m||||on) made up of cash from the drawdowns
under the 2017 Faclllty . . '

. Cash position

At 31. December 2022 the Group had total cash and cash equnvalents of $1.11 mllhon (31 December 2021: $0.88
million). Restricted cash balances at the end of the year (which are presented as long-term financial assets in the
Balance Sheet) represent funds held as collateral in respect of future work obligations. The net amount, not provided
against, totalled $0.5 million (31 December 2021: $0.5 million), and relates the Group’s Syrian Block 26 interest.

Going concern

As at the date of this Report, the Gnoup has free cash.available for operatlons totalllng approximately $1.2 million (of
which $0.64 million is awaiting electronic transfer settlement) and ongoing general and administrative costs are
expected to be approxnmately $0.2 million per month. One further tranche of between £750,000 and £1 million is
available under the 2017 'Facility to be drawn down on or after 30 June 2023. The precise amount of this drawdown is
at the discretion of the Board but after consultation with the Lenders based on the prevailing activity of the business at
the time. These funds are expected to fund the Company’s general and administrative costs through 2023.

Additiona! funding will be required by early 2024. The 2017 Facility is due to mature on 31 December 2023 and the . -
Board is in ongoing discussions with the Lenders (who are also the Major Shareholders) regarding what happens at
maturity, when both the Company and the Lenders will have the right to convert the outstanding amount thereunder
into equity at 5 pence per share. These discussions:also cover how the Company and Group will be funded going
forward, whether it be by an extension of the 2017 Facility or some other structure.

The Directors note that the Company remains reliant on the support of its two Major Shareholders, and the Board
maintains a good relationship with these Major Shareholdérs who continue to support the Company's strategy as
outlined in this Report. Without this support, the Company would be seriously financially challenged.

As a result of its ongoing dialogue with the Major Shareholders regarding the Group's future business strategy and
financing, the Board continues to believe that the Major Shareholders have the willingness and ability to continue
supporting the Group going forward. However, there are no firm funding commitments in place, beyond the 2017
Facility, as at the date of this report. Despite the belief that future financing will be available from the Major
Shareholders, the Company also continues to explore altemnative sources of financing, in particular to finance the
Group's-business development ambitions. .

Following completion of a review of the going concem position of the Company and Group at the meeting of the Board
of Directors on 25 May 2023, including consideration of the uncertainties described above, the Board has concluded
that it is confident that, with free cash available for operations totalling $1.2 million (of which $0.64 million is awaiting
electronic transfer ‘settlement), the remaining funds available to be drawn down under the 2017 Facility, plus any
additional financing that will need to be secured beyond the current expiry of the 2017 Facility, the Company and the
Group is likely to have sufficient resources to continue in operationai existence for the foreseeable future, being a
period not less than twelve months from the date of approval of this Financial Report. Accordingly, the Directors
consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing these Financial Statements.

Notwithstanding the confidence that the Board' has in its ability to finance the Group’s business, the Directors, in
accordance with Financial Reporting Council guidance in this area, conclude that at this time there is material
uncertainty that finance could be procured to fund ongoing costs and liabilities beyond the maturity of the 2017 Facility,
. and failure to do so might cast significant doubt upon the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concem and that the Company and the Group may therefore be unable to realise their assets and discharge their
liabilities in the normal course of business. These Financial Statements do not include the adjustments that would result
if the Group was unable to continue as a going concem. :

These Financial Statements consolidate the accounts of Gulfsands Petroleum plc and all its subsidiary undertaklngs
drawn to 31 December each year
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This Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 25 May 2023.

John Bell
, Managing Director
25 May 2023

.

.cautlonary statement

This Strategic Report has been prepared solely lo provrde addmonal information to shareholders to assess the Group’s
strategies and the potenbal for those strategies o succeed.

The Strategic Report contains certain forward-ooking statements. These statements are made by the Directors in good
‘faith based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report and such statements .

- 'should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors,
underlying any such forvgarp—iookihg information;

The Directors, in préparing this Strategic Report, ﬁave been guided by the requirements of section 414c of the
Companies Act.2006. The Report has been prepared for the Group ‘as a whole and therefore gives emphasis 10 those
matters which are significant to the Group as a whole. ’
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Board of Directors .

Michael Kroupeev

Non-Executive Chairman - )
Mr Kroupeev has 28 years' experience working within the exploration and production sector. After University in Moscow
and MBA at London Business School, he began his career working for Dana Petroleum pic as a Director in 1994. In
1995, Mr Kroupeev founded Waterford Finance and Investment Limited ("Waterford"). Waterford is an oil and gas
focussed vehicle, specnallslng in the financing of oil, gas and other energy related projects. He has been directly
involved in the capital raising for natural resource projects and in acqumng, restructuring, developing and divesting
such assets. Waterford has a number of substantial shareho!dings in ‘oil and gas companies with operations in Europe,

Africa, Australasia and Former Soviet Union countries, and is a substantial shareholder of Gulfsands, holding a 57.75
percent interest in the Company. He was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Gulfsands in October 2016, and
becarme Non-Executive Chairman in December 2020.

John Bell
Managing Director
. MrBellis a Chartered Engineer with over 30 years of experience in the energy sector having worked at Vice President
or Managing Director leve! at BP plc, Equinor and Suncor Energy (Syria). He has spent a large part of his career in the
Middle East, as well as time in North Africa, the Americas, the UK North Sea, Scandinavia and the Caribbean, where
he has successfully been involved in developments, operations, corporate restructuring, refinancing and growing
businesses to provide enhanced shareholder retumns. He:has a First-Class Honours Degree in Engineering from
Strathclyde University in Scotland and studied Executive Leadership at Haas- School of Business, University of
Califomia, Berkeley. Previous public company directorships include Guif Keystone Petroleum, Tethys Petroleum where
he was Executive Chairman and Aminex where he was Non-Executive Chairman. Mr Bell joined the Board as a Nori-
Executive Director of Gulfsands in August 2014 and assumed the role of Managing Director in July 2016.

Andrew James Morris

Finance Director '

Mr Mdrris has extensive intemational ‘business experience and has advised and sat on the boards of companies,
ranging.from early-stage resource companies to emerging technology companies. He was founder ‘of Persistency
Capital, where he acted as both investor in, and adviser to, companies across a broad range of sectors and
geographies. Previous directorships include Madagascar Oil Limited, Falcon Oil & Gas Ltd, SouthWest Energy Ltd,
Kriisa Research Inc. and Direct Petroleum Exploration Inc: as well as Blake-Oil and Gas Limited and various related
parties. Previously, Mr Morris served as a director of Emst & Young, where he advised a broad range of organisations
on enterprise risk management including corporate governance, management reporting, financial control, operational
risk and process improvement. Mr Moris holds a BSc (Hons) degree in Mathematics from Bristol University and is a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr Morris joined the Board of Gulfsands asa
. Non Executive Dlrector in April 2015 and became Finance Director in July 2016.

Joseph Darby ) : -

_ Senior Independent Non-Executlve Director

" Mr Darby has over 45 years of experience in the energy sector, including eight years with Shell Petroleum before
becoming managing director of Thomson North Sea Ltd and later the Chief Executive of LASMO plc. He has held non-
executive roles at Nordaq Energy plc, British Nuclear Fuels plc, Mowlem plc, Centurion Energy Inc and Alkane Energy
plc. Mr Darby was previously chairman of Mowlem plc (2005-06) and Faroe Petroleum plc (2003-07). Mr Darby was
also more recently a Non-Executive Director of Bowleven plc and a. Non-Executive Director of Premier Oil plc. He is
currently also a Non-Executive Director at Orcadian Energy Ltd. He was appointed a Non-Executive Director of
Gulfsands in November 2012.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report together with the audited Financial Statements of Gulfsands Petroleum plc
and its subsidiary undertakings (the “Group” or the “Company” or “Gulfsands”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Any significant events since the Balance Sheet date are detailed in the Consolidated Financial Statements, however
an indication of possible future developments in the business of the Group are included in the Strategic Report on
pages 2 to 28. )

Dividends:
- The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of 2022 (2021: $n|l)

Capital structure

Equity

Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company s issued share capital during
the year are set out in note 6.1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The outstanding number of Issued Ordinary
Shares as at 31 December 2022 is 572,495,785. The Company has both.Ordinary and Deferred Shares outstanding _
as explained in note 6.1. The Ordinary and Deferred Shares carry no right to fixed income. Each Ordinary Share carries
the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company. The Deferred Shares have no voting rights and are not
entitled to dividends.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both govemed by the
general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any
agreements between holders of the Company's shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on
voting rights. Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 6.1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. No
person has any special rights of control over the Company s share capital. As at 31 December 2022 all issued shares
were fully paid.-

Debt
The Outstanding Amount ("Outstanding Amount”) under the 2017 Facility as at 31 December 2022 was $14.9 million
(£12.3 million) (2021: $15.0 milion [£11:1 million]) of debt outstanding including accrued interest and fees under the
. 2017 Facility. Under applicable accounting standards (IFRS 9) this debt is represented in the balance sheet as $13.3
- million debt liabitity and $3.3 million equity, totalling $16.6 million, to refiect the split between the discounted value of
the debt and the resulting equity value as at the time of the extension in December 2021, and at each drawdown date.
The Outstanding Amount is, at the Lenders’ option, convertible into Ordinary Shares at a price of 5 pence per share. .
The Company also has an option to extmgunsh the Outstanding Amount at maturity of the 2017 Facﬂlty (provided.no
default exists), at 5 pence. Further details of the 2017 Faclllty are set out in note 3.6.
Substantial shareholders
The Company has been notified that as at 25 May 2023 the Major Shareholders held the following number of Ordinary -
shares of the Company:

. Number of - % of shares
Name R shares in issue
Waterford Finance and Investment lelted ) ) 330,605,444 57.75%
Blake Holdings Limited * 1 146,688,595 + 25.62%

(1) Company associated with Michael Kroupeev

Quallfylng third party mdemnlty provisions =

The company has previously made qualifying third-party indemnity provusuons for the benefit of its directors. These
provisions remain in force at the reporting date. -

Directors and their interests ’ :

The Directors who served during the year, except as noted and their interests in the Company’s shares, were as
follows: . -

__At 31 December 2022 ] . At 31 December 2021
Number of Number of share  Number of ordinary Number of share
: ordinary shares options shares options
- A Morris . ’ — 5,950,000 — 5,500,000
J Darby a . 100,250 ' - 100,250 -
© JBell : - 10,600,000 — 10,000,000

'MKmupeev(". . - 330,605,444 © . 1,000,000 330,605,444 1,000,000

(1), Mr. Kroupeev is an ultimate beneficial owner of Waterford Finance and investment Limited. °

Directors’ mterests in transactions
Details of transactions with Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set outin note 6.4 to the. Consolidated

T Flnanclal Statements.
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Governance: A
Directors’ Report

Statement of Directors' responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Stmteglc Report, Directors’ Report and the Fnaﬁcual Statements in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards CIFRS") as adopted
by the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northem Irefand.

Company law requires the DII‘EC(OI'S to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law. ‘the
Directors have elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by-the UK and IFRIC (IFRS interpretations Committee} interpretations. Under company law, the Direciors must not
approve the financial statements untess they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 01 the state of affairs of
the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the UK and IFRIC (IFRS

: Interpretations Committee) interpretations, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

. prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless ‘it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adaquate.accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other iregularities. ’ .

Website publication ' .

The Directors are respansible for ensuring the Annual Report and the Financial Statements are made available on a
website. Financial statements are published on the Company's website in accordance with legistation in the United
Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in ather
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Company's website is the responsibility of the Directors. The
Directors' responsibility also extends to the ongoing Iintegrity of the financiat statements contained therein.

Statement of disclosure to the auditor :

So far as the Directars, at the time of approval of their Repor( are aware. .

. there is no retevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

. each Director has taken steps that they ought to have taken'to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information,

This confirmation is given and should be mterpreted in accordance with secuon 418 of the Companies Ax:t 2008.

Auditor

During the year, the Company held an audit tender process, following Wmch MHA' Maclintyre Hudson were appomted
as the Group and Company’s auditar. Following a rebranding exercise on 15 May 2023, the trading name of the

company's independent auditor changed from MHA Macintyre Hudson to MHA. A resolution to reappoint MHA as

auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will be pul to shareholders at the Annval General

Meeting. .

Managing Director
25 May 2023
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Governance
- Directors’ Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The Company delisted from the AIM market in April 2018 but remains a Public Limited Company (“PLC"). While non-

listed companies are not subject to the requirements of the UK Corporate Govenance Code on corporate govemance,

the Board has sought to continue to maintain appropriate standards of corporate govemance, as it consnders
: practrcable for the size, stage of development and operations of the Group.

In order to communicate the Group's busmess conduct standards to employees, contract staff and contractor personnel
across the Group, the Board has established a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which is supported by detailed
internal policies and procedures. Compliance with the Code’ of Busrness Conduct and -Ethics. is a contractual
requirement for all personnel.

The Gulfsands Board

The role of the Board

The Board sets the Group's strategic objectives taking into account the financial and human resources available within

the Group to meet these- objectives. The Board determines the .Company's key policies, values and standards,
_ effectively communicating these throughout the Group. Periodically, the Board reviews the. potenual risks to the Group

and ensures the probability of these nsks affecting the business are mrmmlsed via management and mmgatron

The Board's role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Group within a framework of effective controls and
periodic reporting; this enables operational and financial performance to be actively monitored and managed.

The composmon of the Board

- Gulfsands’ business carries political, commercial and-technical risks. Accordingly, pamcular attention is paid to the
composition and-balance of the Board to ensure that it has experience of the oil and gas industry, the regulatory
. environments in which the Group operates and has appropriate financial and risk management skills to lead the Group.

The Board considers that objectivity-and integrity are prerequisites for all appointments, as are the skills, experience,
ability and diversity that will assist the Board in its key functions and decision-making. The Board sees the role of the
Non-Executive Directors to be to independently and constructively challenge the performance of the Executive
Management and to offer assistance and mentor where their skills and experience can assist the performance of the
Management team in the delivery of agreed objectives.

The Board of Directors currently comprises four Directors; the Non-Executive Chairman, the Managing Director, the
Finance Director, and one Non-Executive Director. The Board's one independent Non-Executive Director is Joe Darby,
who is also Senior Independent Director. A brief description of each of the Directors' backgrounds and experience can
be found on page 29 The Board eontmues to review its composmon

Terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors are set out in appointment fetters.

How the Board operates
A detailed schedule of matters reserved for the Board has been established and is periodically reviewed. The key
matters reserved are the consideration and approval of:
the Group's overall strategy and objectives;
material acquisitions and disposals and major expenditure commitments;
borrowing and hedging of oil and gas sales; -
_ the issuance of equity and options;
annual work programme and budget;
the Group's annual and, if prepared, half-yearly Financial Statements;
Board appointments, remuneration and roles;
corporate policies and corporate governance arrangements; and
any transactrons with related parties such as Major Shareholders

Through the publrcahon of regular announcements, and face-to-face meetings where appropriate, the Board has
sought to communicate its stralegy, objectives and performance to all shareholders on a timely basis.

The Board of Directors expects to hold face to face Board Meetings approximately six times per year. In addition,
further meetings are convened by conference call to resolve urgent business matters.

Committees of the Board :

‘The Company has established two sub-committees of the Board, an Audit Commiittee, and a Remuneration Committee;

the purpose of which are to review areas of the business mandated by the Board and to present findings and

recommendations to the Board for its decision. While the Board delegates certain of its duties, responsibilities and .

powers to the Committees, so that these can receive suitably focussed attention, they both act on behalf of the full
- Board, and the matters reviewed and managed by the Commmees remain the responsibility of the Board of Dlrectors

as a whole.

Each of the Committees has its own written terms of reference; copies of which are available on the Company's website.
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: Dlrectors Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Audlt Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Joe Darby and its activmes are governed by terms of reference that are available
on the Company'’s website. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are:

e to review and consider the integrity of the Company’s Financial Statements and regulatory announcements;

e to keep under review the effectiveness of the Company's intemal contrals;
e to assist the Board in ensuring that it receives appropriate financial and risk reporting to enable it to make its
business decisions;
o to regularly review the Companys risk management processes and the risks to which ihe Company is”
. exposed;

» tooversee the relationshlp with the external audltor

e to review the Company's whistle-blowing processes; and

» to report to the Board on how the Audit Committee-has discharged its responsibilities.

2. Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Joe Darby and its activities are govemed by terms of reference that are
. available on the Company's website. It is responsible for considering and making recommendations to.the Board in .
respect of rémuneration for ‘the’ Chairman -and Executive Directors. The Committee also has oversight of the
remuneration arrangements for the direct reports to the Executive Directors, the remuneration for whom is set by the
Managing Director in conjunction with the Chairman. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the
Chairman in consultation with the Managing Director and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, with fees
being determined by the Board excluding the Non-Executive Directors.

The number of meetings of the Board and its Committees during 2022 and individual attendance by Directors is shown
below: ) .

‘Board Audit | Remuneration
Number of meetings 2022 10 2. 3 .
Attendance: ) .
Andrew Morris 10 2 n/a
Joe Darby 10 2 - 3
John Bell 10 2 n/a
Michael Kroupeev, 9 1. 3

.In addition to the formal Committees of the Board; the Company has established. two additional Committees to help
with the Govemance of the Group:

Strategic Advisory Board

Given the complex nature of managing the Group's Syrian assets and the goal of an ultlmate return to production when
circumstances allow the Company has sought significant political, legal and strategic advice. While some. of thls
support has come from lawyers and advisers, the Company has found great value in creating a Board of advisors made
up of individuals with deep experience in the fields of diplomacy, intemational palitics, and post conflict rehabilitation. .'

Sustainability Committee . ’

As explained on pages 12 to 17 in the Strategic Report, Gulfsands is focussed on building a sustainable business
model that considers the social, environmental and governance impacts of all its projects. This is guided throughout by
the principles outlined by the UN Global Compact and the UN's Sustainable Development Goals (“SDG’s"). Gulfsands’
progress and performance on its strategic approach to Sustainability is overseen and driven by the Sustainability
Committee, chaired by the Managing Director and comprises a combination of line managers and members of the
Board and Strategic Advisory Board:

Remuneration of Directors
The remuneration of the Dlrectors for the year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows:

-Annual Remunerahon (£'000)

Salary and fees Bonuses Benefits in kind Total

2022 2021 2022 - .2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

A Morrist® 180 180 . 18 27 2 2 200 209
J Darby® 34 34 - .= — — 34 34
J Bell® 240 240 24 . 36 2 2 266 278
M Kroupeev 45 45 — —. — — . & 45

: -4 4 545 566

499 - 499 42 ) 63

(1) Finance Director.

(2) Non-Executive Director.
(3) Managing Director. .

(4) Non-Executive Chairman.
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Dlrectors Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Share Options

The interests of the Directors, who' held office dunng 2022, in options, over the Companys shares are set out in the

table below:
Number of options
Exercise Exerusabla at 31

At 1 January Grénted At 31 Decamber - price Deeember 2022 Grant date Expiry

. 2022 ) ' 2022 (£) -date

JBett . 2000000 - e 2,000,000 0.01 2,000,000 11112016 111112026
8,000,000 [ 8,000,000 0.05 . 28/06/2018 26/06/2028

— 600,000 600,000 © 0.0 600,000 3112/2022 311272032

A Monis 1.500,000 - 1,500,000 0.01 1,500,000 1171112016 11/11/2026
"s000000 - 4,000,000 0.05 B - _ 28/06/2018 © 28/06/2028
— 450,000 450,000 0.01 450,000 - 311212022 311212032 -

M Kroupeev " 1,000,000 - — 1,000,000 . 0.03375 . 1,000,000 11/11/2016 11/11/2026

No other Directors Held share options at 31 December 2021 or 2022.

This Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 25 May 2023.
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. Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Gulfsands Petroleum plc

O inion
WZ have audited the financial statements of Gulfsands Petroleum plc (the ‘Parent Company ) and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which compnse
« the Consolidated Income Statement -
o the Consolidated Balance Sheet
o the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equlty
e the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
.« the related Group Notes 1 to 6.7 including accountlng policies '
* « the Company Balance Sheet .
* the Company Statement of Changes in Equity
o the Company Cash Flow Statement . : )
o therelated Parent Company Notes 1-to 6.8 including accounting policies.

The financial .reporting framework that has been'applied in their preparation is abplicable law and UK adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards ("UK ‘adopted IFRS")and, as applied in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act’ 2006

. In our opinion:

» give a true and fair view of the state of the Group s and of the Parent Company s affairs as at 31 December
2022 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended; ’

»  have been propedy prepared in accordance W|th UK adopted Intematuonal Fmancnal Reporting Standards
(IFRSs); and

* have been prepared in.accordance with the requnrements of the Compames Act 2006

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordanoe with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance -

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including
the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained-is sufficient and appropnate to prowde
a basis for our oplmon

Material uncertamty relating to going concern

We draw your attention to Note 1.3a of the financial statements on page 45 of the financial statements, which indicate
‘the Group may need to raise additional finance from its shareholders to fund future obligations and there is no
guarantee that the required funding will be available.'As noted in Note 1.3a this indicates that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Parent Company’s ablllty to continue as a going concem. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In, auditing the financial statements, we have ooncluded that the Directors’ use of the gomg concern basrs of accountmg
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropnate

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Durectors with respect to gomg concern are described in the relevant
_sections of this report.

. Emphasis of matter —carrying value of Group s Syrian Assets
We- draw attention to note 4.2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements conceming the valuation of the Group's
suspended producing operations in Syria, which is recorded at $102 million following the loss of joint control in
December 2011. There is significant uncertainty as to the duration of the UK Sanctions imposed in December 2011
and the eventual outcome of events in Syria. The potential impact any outcome will have on the carrylng value from
- the producing asset is unknown. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. '

Other information

The other information compnses the |nformat|on included in the annual report other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or-our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. if we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this
gives rise to'a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed,
‘we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are requlred to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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'Ind‘ependent Auditor’s Report to the members of Gulfsands Petrpleum plc

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
« the information given in the Strateglc Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the -
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
e the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with appllcable legal
requnrements :

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and their environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material mssstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the followmg matters in‘relation to which the Companies Act 2006 reqwres us
to report to you if, in our opinion: . .
» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or retums adequate for our audlt have not been received
- from branches not visited by us; or
" o the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accountlng records and retums or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ wehave not recelved all the information and explanations we require for our audit. =~ = '

Responsibilities of dmactors :

As explamed more fully in the directors’ responsibilities : statement the directors are responsible for the preparatlon of
the financial statements and for bemg satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and

for such internal controls as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that

. are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the’ Group's and the Parent

f

Company's ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to hqundate the Group or Parent Company or
to cease operations, or have no realistic altematlve but to do so.

Audntor responsnbllmes for the audit of the financial statements’

" Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.’

'Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a' guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
- ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. .

Imegularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:
Enquiry of management to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulatlons
" Enquiry of management around actual and potential litigation and claims.
Enquiry of management to identify any instances of known or suspected instances of fraud.
Discussing among the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur |n the ﬁnanclal
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.
¢  Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, we are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also,
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from
ermor, as fraud may mvotve deliberate concealment by, for example forgery or intentional mlsrepresentattons or
through collusion. .

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporﬁng
Council's website at: www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Auditor's Report.
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Indepgndent Auditor’s Report to the members of Gulfsands Petroleum plc

"Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest .
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyorie other than the Parent Company and the
Parent Company's members as a body, for our. audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

-

Andrew Moyser FCA FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of MHA, Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom  °

-~

Date: 25 May 2023

MHA is the trading name of Maclntyre Hudson LLP, a limited liability partnership in England and Wales’ (reglstered
R number OC312313) )
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Financial Statements

- Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended -31. December 2022

v

2022 2021
- Notes $'000 $'000
.-Continuing operations ) o ’ :
General administrative expenses (2,689) . (2,866)
Share-based payments 53 . SN (14) m
Recovery of restricted cash - 33 1,520 —
Operating loss ’ 5.2 - {1,226) (2,867)
Foreign exchange gains 1,211 .. 176
Loan facility finance cost 36 (1,409) "~ (1,437)
' Other finance expenses (72) (63)
Loss before taxation . (1,496) (4,191)
Taxation 57 — —
Loss for the year (1,496) (4,191)
Loss per'share attributable to the owners of the parent company
(cents) ' : : .
Basic and Diluted ° 5.8 (0.26) (0.74)
There are no items of comprehensive income outside of the Consolidated Income Statement.
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
- Notes $'000 . $'000
Assets : :
Non-current assets i N
Property, plant and equipment - ) . 2.1,22 — -
Intangible assets . . .23 — —_
Long-term financial assets : 33 500 500
Investments ] 4.2 102,000, 102,000
: 102,500 102,500
Current assets . .
Inventory L T - 3.5 —_ fe—
Trade and other receivables, ’ ‘3.1 186 o212
Cash and cash equivalents 3.2 1,108 884
: 1,304 1.086
Total assets 103,804 103,598
Liabilities !
Current liabilities ) . . .o
Trade and other payab|es . ' : 3.4 540 367
._Loan facility : . 3.6 13,360 ~
) : 13,800 367.
Non-current liabilities - ’ . :
Trade and other payables ) . . 34 3,810 3,972
Loan facility o 3.6 — 11,882
. B 3,810 15,954
Total liabilities 17,710 16.321
Net assets 86,094 87,276
Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equnty holders
Share capital .~ . : 6.1 19,491 19,491
Share premium ’ . 112,909 112,908
Merger reserve : . 11,709 11,708
Capital contribution reserve . 82,386 3,251 2,894
Retained loss . (61,266) (59,827)
Total equity 86,094 87,278

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved and aulhonsed by lhe Board of Directors on 25 May 2023

and signed on its behalf by:

o7 >

Andrew James Morris
Finance Director
25 May 2023 -
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Financial Statements

Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equlty for the year ended 31 December 2022

A

. . . Capital - ) )
Share Share . Merger contribution "Retained Total
" capital premium reserve reserve (lossyprofit equity
L $'000 $'000 .$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
. At 1 January 2021 19,346 112,909 11,709 2,367 (58,150) 88,181
" - Loss for 2021 : - = — — (4,191) (4,191)
Transactions with owners .
Share-based payment — — —_ — o1 1
charge i
Shares issued 145 — — - — 145
Equity element of - — — — 146 — 146
convertible loan note ’ -
Recycling of convertible — — — (2,513) 2,513 —
. loan note through retained .
eamings .
Extension of secured loan_ — —_ — 2,994 — 2,994
from 31.12.2021, to
31.12.2023 . . . . :
At 31 December 2021 19,491 112,908 - 11,708 2,994 - (59,827) - 87,276
Loss for 2022 — — — - - (1,496) (1,496)
. Transactions with owners v
Share-based payment — — — — B 57 57:
charge : ’
" Equity element of — — _ T 257 ’ bt 257
convertible loan note : -
At 31 December 2022 19,491- 112,909 - 11,709 3,251 (61,266) 86,094

The.merger reserve arose on the acquisition of Gulfsands Petro’l'eum Ltd and its sﬁbsidiaries by the Company by way
of a share-for-share exchange in April 2005, in conjunction with the flotation of the Company on the Altemative
Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange.
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Financial Statements
COnsolidated Cash Flow Statement

. 2022 2021
. __Notes $'000 $'000
. Cash flows from operating activities b
" Operating loss from continuing operations’ (1,226) - (2,867)
Share-based payment charge 53 57 1
Decrease in receivables - 3.1 16 .74
Increase/(decrease) in payables 34 12 (138)

. Foreign exchange losses - (129) (27)
Finance expenses paid : (72) (63)
Interest received . ' — —
Net cash used in operating activities (1,342) (3,020)
Financing activities
Loan draw-down 3.6 1,566 2,769

-_Share issue . : — 145
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,566 2,914
Increase/ (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 224 (106) .
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . 884 . 990
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3.2 1,108 884

[
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Notes to the Consolidated Fmanclal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

Section 1 — Basis of Preparation

1.1 Authorisation of Financial Statements and statement of compliance with IFRS.
-Gulfsands Petroleum plc is a public limited company which was quoted on the Altemative Investment Market of the
London Stock Exchange (“AIM®) until 23 April 2018 and is incorporated in the United Kingdom. The principal activities
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group")'are that of oil and gas production, exploration and development.

The Consoiidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 25 May. 2023 and the Balance Sheets were sugned on the Board s behalf by Andrew James Morris,
Finance Director.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with international aceounting standards in
conformity with the reqwrements of the Companies Act 2006. The principal accounting-policies adopted are set out in
note 1.3.

1.2 Adoptlon of International Financial Repomng Standards . .
The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and for the comparative year ended 31
December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted Intemational Financia! Repomng Standards ("UK
adopted IFRS") in accordance with the prowsnons of the Compames Act 2008.

1.3 Significant accounting policies

.a) Basis of preparation, measurement and accounting standards - - :

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with mtematlonal accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis. The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires
the 'use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgment in applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas where significant judgments and estimates have been made in preparing

" the financial statements and their effect are disclosed in note 1.4. - '

Going concern. :

As at the date of this Report the Group has free cash available for operations totalling approxnmately $1.2 million (of

which $0.64 million is awaiting electronic transfer settlement) and. ongoing general and administrative costs are

expected to be approximately $0.2 million per month. One further tranche of between £750,000 and £1 million is
- available under the 2017 Facility to be drawn down on or after 30 June 2023. The precise amount of this drawdown is

at the discretion of the Board but after consultation with the Lenders based on the prevailing activity of the business at

the time. These funds are expected to fund the Company's general and administrative costs-through 2023.

" Additional funding will be required by early 2024. The 2017 Facility is due to mature-on 31 December 2023 and the
Board is in ongoing discussions with the Lenders (who are also the Major Shareholders) regarding what happens at
maturity, when both the Company and the Lenders will have the right'to convert the outstanding amount thereunder
into equity at 5 pence per share.- These discussions also cover how the Company ard Group wul be funded going

- forward, whether'it be by an extension of the 2017 Facility or some other structure. .

The Directors note that the Company remains reliant on the support of its two Major Shareholders, and the Board
maintains a good relationship with these Major Shareholders who continue to support the Company’s strategy as
outlined in this Report. Without this support, the Company would be seriously financially challenged.

As a result of its ongoing dialogue with the Major Shareholders regarding the Group's future business strategy and
financing, the Board continues to believe that the Major Shareholders have the willingness and ability to continue

- supporting the Group going forward. However, there are no firm funding commitments in place, beyond the 2017 -
Facility, as at-the date .of this report. Despite the belief that future financing will be available from' the Major
Shareholders, the Company also continues to explore alternative sources of financing, in particular to ﬁnance the
Group's business development ambitions.

Foliowing completion of a review of the ‘going concern position of the Company and Group at the meeting of the Board
‘of Directors on 25 May 2023, including consideration of the uncertainties described above, the Board has concluded
that it is confident that, with free cash available for operations totalling $1.2 million (of which $0.64 million is awaiting
.electronic transfer settlement), the remaining funds available to be drawn down under the 2017 Facility, plus any
additional ﬁnancmg that will need to be secured beyond the current expiry of the 2017- Facmty the Company and the
Group is likely to have sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a
- period not less than twelve months from the date of approval of this_Financial Report. Accordingly, the Directors
consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

1.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

a) Basis of preparation, measurement and accounting standards (contlnued)

Going concern (continued) .

Notwithstanding the confidence that the Board has in its ability to finance the Group’s busmess the Directors, in
accordance with Financial Reporting Council guidance in this area, conclude that at this time there is material
uncertainty that finance could be procured to fund ongoing costs and liabilities, and failure to do so might cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s and the Group's ability to continue as a going concem and that the Company and the Group
may therefore be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. These

' Financial Statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going

concem.

b) Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2022
Other Accounting standards that have come into effect as of 1 January 2022 have been:
*«  Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, subsequent to the second part of a two phase
pro;ect'under Interest Rate Benchmark' Reform °IBOR”®, which finalises the IBOR.and other interest rate
benchmarks reform.

The adoption of these standards has had no effect on the financial results of the Group.

c) Standards, amendments and interpretations, which are effective for reporting periods beginning after the
date of these financial statements which have not been adopted early: |

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued that are
effective in future periods and which the Group has chosen not to adopt early, in particular:

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);

Annual Improvements to.IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Amendments to IFRS 9);

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments (IFRS 3);

Definition of accounting estimate — Amendments (IAS 8); and

Deferred tax on leases and decommissioning obligations —Amendments (IAS 12).

None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the Group.

d) Basis of consolidation :
Intra- group sales, profits and balances are eliminated fully on consolidation.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or sold are consolidated for the periods from, or to, the date when control passed.

. Acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acq'uisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group
in exchange for the control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the Income Statement as
incurred. At the acquisition date the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value. . .

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of subsidiary undertakings when the Company has the
control over the undertaking. The Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present:
power over the investee; exposure to variable retums from the investee; and the ability of the investor to use its power
to affect those variable retums. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control. .

The Group is engaged in oil and gas exploration, development and production through joint operations. A joint operation
is whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint operator recognises its assets, including its share of any assets incurred
jointly; its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenues, including its share of revenue from
the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share of any expenses jointly incurred.

When the Group loses control or joint control of a subsidiary or joint operation, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ji} the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary
: or joint operation and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary or joint operation are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities are disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary or joint operation
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS
" 8 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ or, when applicable, the costs on initial reoognmon of an
investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. .
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"Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 -

1.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

e) Foreign and reporting currency

These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in US Dollars. The functlonal and presentational currency of
the Company is the US Dollar, and the functional currency of all subsidiaries is also the US Dollar. Gains and losses
from foreign currency transactions, if any, are recognised in the Income Statement for the year. The effective exchange
rate to the Pound Sterling for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £1: $1.25 (2021: £1: $1.37). The ‘exchange rate
to the Pound Stemng as at 31 December 2022 was £1: $1.21 (2021 £1 $1.35).

Foreign currency transactions of individual compames within the Group are translated to the functional and reporting
currency of US Dollars at the rates prevailing when the transactions occurred. Monetary assets and’liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date. All differences are
taken to the Income Statement. .

1.4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and "
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estlmates and undedylng assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to aocountmg estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
revision _and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following sets out the critical judgements and estimations that the Directors have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and the key assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation

- uncertainty at the Balance Sheet date that have a significant risk of causmg a material adjustment to the carrying values
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

going concern (judgement) - for further details see note 1.3a;

recoverability of restricted cash balances (judgement) — for further details see note 3.3;

2017 Facility equity conversion option (estimation) — for further details see notes 3.6 and 6.2; and

carrying value of the Group's Syrian Assets {i.e. investment in DPC) (estimation) ~ for further details see

note 4.2.

Section 2 — Qil and Gas Assets

2.1 Property, plant and equlpment

The Group applies the requirements of IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’ and where
- - additional guidance is needed 1AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and 1AS 36 ‘Impaiment of Assets’ noting that
several items in the latter two standards are exempted for assets at the exploration and evaluation stage due to the
application of IFRS 6. Set out below is our interpretation of the principles set out in IFRS 6 and othér IFRS.

Recognition and measurement

Development and production assets are accumulated on a cash generating unit basis and represent the cost of
developing the Proved plus Probable Reserves discovered and bringing them into production, together with the
exploration.and evaluation ("E&E") asset expenditures mcurred in finding Proved plus Probable Reserves, transfered
from intangible E&E assets. :

The cost of development and production assets also includes the cost of acquisitions and purchases of such assets,
directly attributable overheads.

A
Depletion of producing assets
Expenditure within each cash generating unit is depleted by a unit of production meihod using the ratio of oil and gas
production in the year compared to the estimated quantity of Proved and Probable Reserves at the beginning of the
year. Costs used in the unit of production calculation comprise the net book value of capitalised costs plus the estimated
future field development costs for Proved and Probable Reserves. Changes in estimates of commercial reserves or
future development costs are dealt with prospectwely .

Impamnent :

An impairment test is performed whenever events and circumstances arising during the development or production

phase indicate that the carrying value of a development or production asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The
. aggregate camying value is compared against the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit, generally by

reference to the present value of the future net cash flows expected to be derived from production of commercial

reserves.

The Company currently has no tanglble Oil and Gas Assets, following the reclassification of its Synan assets to
Investments (see note 4.2). . . :

Gulfsands'Petroleum pic Annual Report and Accounts 2022 ‘ ' 44



Notes to the Consolidated Fmanclal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

2.2 Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas assets

Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas assets, which comprise predominantly computer hardware and
" software, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is “charged
 so as to write-off the cost, less estimated residual value, of assets on a straight-line. basis over their useful lives of
-between two and five years.

Property Plant & Equipment
Total
: . $'000
Cost: . . . . R . K
At1January 2021. . ! . g 1,514
Additions ' . . =
Disposals . . —
At 31 December 2021 1,514
Additions ' : . L —
Disposals ) . ) L —
At 31 December 2022 . . . - 1,514
Accumulated depreclatlon and depletlon:‘ . B
At 1 January 2021 ' . . (1,514)
Charge for 2021 _ " ) ) —
Disposals ) - . - . —
At 31 December 2021 - (1,514)
Charge for 2022 ) . . - ‘ =
Disposals ) i . —
At 31 December 2022 : . (1,514)

Net book value at 31 December 2021 ; : . —
Net book value at 31 December 2022 . —

2.3 Intangible assets

Key accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Recoverability of intangible oil and gas exploration and evaluation assets

If there are indicators of impairment, the carrying values of E&E assets are assessed for impairment which involves
judgement as to the (i) likely commerciality of the assets, (i) future revenues and costs pertaining and (i) the discount
rate to be applied for the purpose of deriving a recoverable value. Additional judgements apply to the Group's E&E
assets affected by sanctions in Syria. See note 4.2 for further details. .

The Group applies the requirements of IFRS 'GI'Eproration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’, set out below is
our interpretation of the principles set outin IFRS 6. - : '

Recognition and measurement

The Group follows the sucoessful efforts method of accountmg whereby costs for unsuocessful exploration activities
are expensed All licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised as intangible fixed assets
in cost centres by licence or contract, as appropriate, pending determination of commerciality of the relevant property.
Directly attributable administration costs are capitalised insofar as they relate to specific exploration activities. Pre-
licence costs and general explorauon costs not directly attributable to any particular I:cence or prospect are expensed
as incurred.

E&E assets relating to each exploration licence/prospect are not amortised but are carried forward until the existence -
or otherwise of commercial reserves has been determined. if commercial reserves have been discovered, the related
E&E assets are assessed for impairment on a cash generating unit basis as set out below and any impairment loss is
recognised in the Income Statement. The carrying value of the E&E assets, after any impairment loss, is then
. reclassified as development and production assets in property, plant and equipment. Costs of unsuccesstful exploration
efforts are expensed at the time that a determination is made that the explorat:on has failed to locate commercially
recoverable hydrocarbons. . o

Impairment

As the Group does not hold any intangibles with an indefinite useful life, non-current assets are assessed for impairment
on a cash generating unit basis when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may exceed its
recoverable amount. Such triggering events in respect of E&E assets include: the point at which final determination is .
made as to whether commercial reserves exist; actual or imminent expiry of exploration licence/contract-without
expectation of renewal; and/or no further plans to explore the licence/contract area.

Where there has been an indication of a possible impairment, Management assesses the recoverability of the carmrying
value of the cash generating unit by comparison with the estimated discounted future net cash flows based on
Management s expectation of the future production, hydrocarbon pnoes and costs. Any |denm‘ ed impairment is charged

to the Income Statement.
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Notes to the Consolldated Fmancnal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

2.3 Intangible assets (contmued)
Where conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment charge is also reversed
as a credit to the Income Statement, net of any amortisation that would have been:charged since the impairment.

‘

Syria Colombia - Total
$000 $'000 $000
Cost: . ] ] ] ' e
At 1 January 2021 10,505 2,291 12,796
Additions ) . . ) — — L —
At 31 December 2021 L ) 10,505 - 2,291 - 12,796
" Additions ) : — —_ =
-Disposals - ’ . . = (2,291) - (2,291)
At 31 December 2022 " ) . 10,505 . — 10,505
Accumulated impairment: ' : :
At 1 January 2021 : (10,505) (2,291). (12,796)
‘Exploration expenditure impaired . — - — —
At 31 December 2021 . C (10,505) (2,291) .{12,796)
Disposals . : ' = 2201 2,291
At 31 December 2022 (10,505) — (10,505)

Net book value at 31 December 2021 - — — C -
Net book value at 31 December 2022 — T —

Syna

The accumulated costs of E&E assets in Syna represent the Group’s share of the drilling costs of the Al Khalral Twaiba

" and Wardieh wells and certain 3D seismic surveys. The Al Khairat well was successfully tested although commercial
development approval is yet to be granted by the government of the Syrian Arab Republic since force majeure was
declared prior to application for a Production Licence. An application has been prepared and will be submitted as soon

- as circumstances allow, and Contingent Resources have been allocated to this discovery. The Twaiba and Wardieh
wells are still under evaluation. Following the imposition of UK Sanctions against the oil industry in Syria, an' impairment
test was conducted and the camrying value of all E&E assets in Syria was impaired to nil as a result of the uncertainty .
arising at that time. The E&E assets remain impaired as at the date of this Report. )

Colombia

During the year the Group had an interest in one E&P contract in Colombia, Llanos-50 ("LLA-50%). In March 2022, the
Group received confirmation from the ANH that the Llanos-50 licence was officially terminated by mutual consent
without liability to either party. In 2022, the intangible exploration and evaluation (“E&E") asset of $2.29 miflion (cost
‘and cost impaired) representing capitalised expenditures from inception to-date, were disposed of. Alongside this,
£1.22 million (~$1.52 million) of restricted cash was released back to the Company by the ANH in May 2022."

2.4 Work obligation commitments .
Asat 31 December 2022 the Group had no capltal commitments. There were no other material obligations or contracts
outstandlng in refation to ongoing projects not provided for or disclosed in these Consolidated Financial Statements. -

Section 3 - Working Capital
" 3.1 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are carried at original mvonce amounts less any provnsmn made for |mpamnent of receivables. A
- provision for impairment of trade receivables is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due aceordlng to the original terms of the debt.

2022 ' "2021

' : $000 . - $'000

Other receivables i i 52 i o2
Prepayments ] 144 - - 191
. i 196 212

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 the Group was owed $25.3 million by the govemment of the Syrian Arab Republic
relating to oil delivered during the period of August to November 2011. The total amount invoiced was $31.2 million
. and to November 2011 an amount of $5.9 million had been paid. This asset was fully provided against in 2011 due to
the uncertainties of recovery. The recovery of this amount is included within the impairment calculations modelled when
reviewing the Syrian |nvestment for any |mpa|rment see note 4.2 for further details.

3.2 Cash and cash equuvalents

Cashand cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand by banks and other short- term
investments with’ original maturities of three months or less. Balances held in bank accounts subject to escrow
agreements as collateral for performance bonds issued are excluded from cash and cash equwalents and are shown
as long-term financial assets. .
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' Notes to the Consolidated Fmanclal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

" 3.2 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

\

2022 2021

. . . : $'000 $°000

Cash at bank and in hand - . 1,108 884

' Restricted cash balances : . : 500 : 500
Total cash and bank resources : 1,608 1,384
Included in long-term financial assets (note 3.3) ) . (500} (500)
Total cash and cash equivalents . . ) . 1,108 884

3.3 Long-term financial assets :
Long-term financial assets comprise balances held in bank accounts sub]ect to escrow agreements as collateral for
perfonnance bonds issued. . . .

Key accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions:

Restricted cash balances at 31 December 2021 included $1.78 million of deposnts coliateralising guarantees given to
- ANH, the state regulator, to.secure minimum exploration work commitments in Colombia under the Ltanos-50 licence

(“LLA-50"). These were fully provided against but following the mutual termination of the Llanos-50 licence in May

2022, £1.22 million (~$1.52 million) of this restricted cash was released back to the Company by the ANH. As at 31

December 2022 there is no balance relating to Llanos-50.

2022 4 2021

- $’000 - $000
Restricted cash balances - 500 2,281
Provision against recovery of restricted cash balances . . L= (1,781)
Total cash and cash equivalents K - 500 - ‘500

The amount of $0.5 million (31 December 2021: $0.5 million) relates the Group's Syrian Block 26 interest. If retumed‘
half of this amount would be due to Gulfsands joint venture partner, Sinochem Group, and so a payable of $0.25 mslllon :
has been lncluded for this in non-current liabilities (note 3.4).

34 Trade and other payablas
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nommal values

. 2022 2021
$'000 - $'000
Current liabilities ) '
Trade payables ’ . S . . 43 "56
Accruals and other payables . 497 . 311-
- . 540 . 367
Non-current liabilities ’ C . }
Trade payables accruals and other payables . i 3,810 ) 3,972
] ) 3,810 © 3,972

Non-current liabilities include predominantly legacy items relating to the Syria business prior to the declaration of force

majeure in 2011 due to UK Sanctions. This includes certain amounts that were in dispute at the time and certain -

" amounts relating to parties. subject to asset freezing regulations under the UK Sanctions regime. It is unclear if and
when these amounts may become payable. These amounts will be re-assessed when the situation in Syria nomialises.

35 Inventory
Inventories comprise materials and, equnpment which are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes all costs incurred in bringing the materials and equipment to its present ‘éondition and location.

. 2022 2021

: . $'000 $'000

Drilling and production inventory . - : 750 . .. 750
Provisions ) - (750) ) (750)

Drilling and production inventory of $0.75 million (2021: $0.75 million) relates to Syrian operations. In 2020, the
Company concluded that due to the security situation in Syria, significant amounts of inventory had either.been stolen
or wére otherwise no longer under the control of the Group. Management therefore wrote down the gross value of
inventory to'$0.75 million but maintained a provision of $0.75 million (2021: $0.75 million) against its value, given the
uncertainties that remain around access to the inventory and ability to use it in the near temasa result of current UK
Sanctlons ‘This treatment remains as at 31 December 2022:
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'Notes to the Consolidated Flnanclal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

3.6 Loans and borrowings

Group and Company

Recognition and measurement

Equity and debt instruments are classified as either equity or as financial liabilities in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.-

Secured Term Financing Facility ‘

On 15 February 2017, the Company closed a Secured Term Financing Facility of up to £4 million (~$5 million) (the
“2017 Facility") with its Major Shareholders, Waterford, Blake and ME. Investments Limited.

The 2017 Facility' had a maturity of February 2020 and was available for drawdown by the Company in five equal
- tranches of £0.8 million (~$1 million). The first three tranches were drawn down in 2017 and the remaining two tranches
in early 2018

In March 2018 an extension to the 2017 Facility was agreed with the Major Shareholders, giving a further £4 million
(~$5 million) of committed funding in four new tranches. ' As part of this amendment consummated in March 2018, the
maturity date of the 2017 Facility was extended by one year to February 2021, at which date all outstanding amounts
would be repayable in cash unless the Company has exercised an equity conversion right. Under this equity conversion
~ right, the 2017 Facility (as amended) was extinguishable with equity at maturity, at the Company's option, into shares

~ of the Company at a price equal to the lower of (i} 5.09 pence (being the 90-day average closing price prior to 19 March
2018 - the date immediately prior to the announcement of the delisting proposal) and (ji) the lowest price at which the
Company has raised equity capital dun'ng the Iife of the 2017 Facility (the “Extinguishment Option”).

Two of the new tranches were .drawn down in 2018. In 2019 the remaining two tranches were drawn down as
scheduled . .

In November 2019, the Company's Ma;or Shareholders committed a further £4.1 million (-$5 13 million) of funding for -
the Group. £1.1 million (~$1.4 million) of the funding was provided through an underwritten equity offering (which
completed in December 2018), and a further £3 million (~$3.75 million) of funding was added to the 2017 Facility to be
-available for draw-down in three instalments of £1 million (~$1.3 million) on each of 30 June 2020, 31 December 2020'
and 30 June 2021. As part of this agreement, the lenders also agreed to convert £1 million (~$1.3 miillion) of principal
of the 2017 Facility to coincide with the equity offering.

" In retumn for-the Major Shareholders' funding commitments in November 2019, the Major Shareholders requested that
the terms of the 2017 Facility be amended such that the pathway to conversion to Ordinary Shares be clarified and
formalised. The Company and Major Shareholders agreed that this clarity was best achieved by amending the existing
Offset Right which the Lenders had to participate in any subsequent Equity raise at an effective discount of 10%. This
Offset Right was therefore amended to become a formal conversion option for the Lenders at a price of 5 pence per
Ordinary Share (the “Lenders' Conversion Option”). Consequently, the 2017 Facility was amended, ‘not only to

* incorporate the new tranches and an extension of its maturity date to 31 December 2021, but also to remove the Offset
Right, incorporate the Lenders Conversion Option and eliminate interest and. other fees going forward. The Group
retained the Extinguishment Option at matunty which ratcheted down to 5 pence per share followmg the December
.2019 equity offering. . .

Until the November 2019 amendnient, interest on loans made (together with accrued fees and interest) ran at 7% per
annum and a commitment fee of 1% per annum ran on any undrawn proportion of the F Faculrty with all fees and interest
accrumg quarterly. These were eliminated on a go-forward basns from November 2019.

The amendment to.the conversjon feature in November 2019 necessntated a change in accounting treatment under

IFRS 9. The Directors concluded that as a package, the changes made to the 2017 Facility were both in the best
- interests of the Company and were a fair package. The changes represented a significant modification under IFRS 9.
However, the fair value of the loan, under the new terms were determined to be equivalent to the carrying value. Hence, '
no gain or loss was recognised by the amendment.

During 2021, the eleventh tranche of £1 mllllon (~$1.3 mllllon) and the twelfth tranche of £1 million.(~$1.3 million) were
drawn down.

In December 2021, the remaining Major Shareholders (Blake and Waterford) committed additional funding of up to
£6.5 million. (~$8.8 million) through an expansion and extension of 2017 Facility, to cover expected General and
Administrative costs for the next two years and some potential business development activity. The 2017 Facility was
also extended for two years to now mature on 31 December 2023 and the strike price of the Extinguishment Option
was fixed at 5 pence per share. The funding of up to £4 million of committed funding for general and administrative
costs was made available for draw-down in four instalments on each of 31 December 2021, 30 June 2022, 31
December 2022, and 30 June 2023. Each instalment was to be between £0.75 million.and £1 million depending on
business requirements. The business development activity funding of up to £2.5 million of funding will be assessed, as
required, based on opportunities identified, though this is subject to the, further consent of the Major Shareholders at
the tlme
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3.6 Loans and borrowings (continued)

Secured Term Financing Facility (continued)

These amendments in December 2021, again represented a significant modification under IFRS 9 As a result of this,
the existing Equity reserve held for the 2017 Facility was released through retained Eamings and a new Equity portion-
established in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the fair value of the. loan, measured as the present
value of the expected cash flows at maturity discounted at an assumed market rate of interest of 12% per annum, and
the existing carrying value of the Facility at the date of the amendments was recognised dlrectly in equity and hence
no galn or loss was recognised by the amendment. ’

. The 2017 Facility conversion options, described above as the Extimjuishrnent.Option and the Lenders’ Conversion
Option, are embedded derivatives that are separately measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Company
considers that the conversion options, which are respectively a financial asset and a financial liability, meet the
conditions in IAS 32 that require their offsetting and presentation on a net basis because it is envisioned that they will
both be settled in a single transaction. The net value of the options is immaterial and has not been presented separately
in the consolidated balance sheet.

During 2022, the thirteenth tranche of £0.5 million* (~$0.6 million) was drawn in March 2022, and the fourteenth tranche
of £0.75 million (~$0.9 million) was drawn down in November 2022 (*1. A drawdown request for £0.75 million was
. made under the terms of the 2017 Facility in March 2022, of which £0.5 million was received in March 2022. The"

remaining £0.25 million was waived in May 2022 following the receipt of the restricted cash funds from Colombia).

All, or part, of the undrawn portion of the 2017 Facility may be cancelled at any time by the Company. The Company '
may prepay the whole or any part (if at least £0.8 million) of the outstanding amounts at any time subject to paying a
10% premium on the amount pre-paid. The proceeds are being used for general and administrative expenses of the
Group and for working capital purposes. The entire 2017 Facility (as amended) is secured: by a mortgage over the
shares of the Company's direct subsidiary, Gulfsands Petroleum Limited; by a charge over certain intercompany
receivables of the Company; by a charge over certain bank accounts of the Company (should the Lenders require such
a charge to be created); and through the issue of one ordinary share in the share capital of Gulfsands Petroleum
Limited to the security trustee. The security trustee for the Facility is Fides Trust Limited. The articles of association of
Gulfsands Petroleum Limited were also amended to include certain reserved matters requiring unanimous shareholder
consent, pre-emption provisions and compulsory transfer provisions. In addition to the right to enforce the security, on
an insolvency-related event of default, the Lenders have the right to convert outstanding amounts under the Facility
into a direct equity holding in Gulfsands Petroleum Limited, at a fair price (from a financial point of view takmg into
account all relevant circumstances) to be determined by an expert at the time. .

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had $14.9 million (£12.3 million) (2021: $15.0 million [E11.1 million]) of debt
outstanding including accrued interest and fees under the 2017 Facility. Under applicable accounting standards (IFRS
9) this debt is represented in the balance sheet as $13.3 million debt liability and $3.3 million equity, totalling $16.6
million, to reflect the split between the discounted value of the debt and the resulting equity value as at the time of the
extension in December 2021, and at each drawdown date. Although there is no interest payable under the new terms
of the 2017 Facility, a non-cash effective interest rate of 12% is accrued on the discounted debt liability over the life of
the facility, to reflect the Directors’ view of the am’s length cost of funding of the business. The 2017 Facility now
matures on 31 December 2023. . .

The movement on the loan balance in the year is represented as' follows: ' .
) ) 2022 2021

$'000 $'000
At 1 January i 11,982 11,118
Loan draw-downs . 1,566 . 2,769
Interest expense - 1,409 1,437
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss . ) - (1,340) . (202) -
Conversion into equity ) . : — - =
Transfer to capltal contnbutlon reserve (note 6.2) . (257) (146)
Equity element of Facility resultlng from December 2021 Amendment . —_ . (2,994)
At.31 December . - 13,360 11,982

Subsequent to the year-end, in Apnl 2023, a drawdown request for £0.75 million was made under the terms of the
2017 Facility.

Therefore, as at the date of this Annual Report, one remaining tranche remains available for drawdown of between
£750,000 and £1 million which is expected to be drawn down in H2 2023 and fund the company to the end of 2023

The potentnal business development finding tranche of up to £2.5 million also remains outstandlng but is subject to
further consent by the major Shareholders.

The maturity of the 2017 Facility is 31 December 2023. The 2017 Facility is convertible at a fixed price of 5 pence per
share at the option of either the Lenders (at any time), or, assuming no default exists, the Company (at maturity).
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Section 4 — Other Assets and Liabilities

4.1 Investments

The Company's investments in subsidiary undertakings are shown below. AII investments are in ordmary shares and
are drrectly or indirectly owned by the Company as stated below: . .

. Proportion of voting shares
. : . at 31 December ) . :
Name of company : 2022 Nature of business _ Country of incorporation

Directly held by the Company: . . .

Gulfsands.Petroleum Ltd.® 99.99% @ Holding company - Cayman islands
-Indirectly held by the Company: ] ' - '
Gulfsands Petroleum Holdings Ltd® . . 100% Holding company Cayman Islands
Gulfsands Middle East Limited® 100% Management services Abu Dhabi.
Gulfsands Petroleum Levant Ltd® 100%  Oil and gas exploration * Cayman Islands
Gulfsands Petroleum Iraq Ltd® 100%  Oil and gas exploration Cayman Islands
Gulfsands Petroleum (MENA) Ltd® 100%  Oil and gas Mration Cayman Islands

(a) One share of Gulfsands Petroleum Limited is owned by the Security Trustee under the 2017 Facility security

_ provisions.

(b) Company registered address: 30 The Strand 46 Canal Point Dnve Grand Cayman KY1-1105, Cayman Islands.

(c) During 2022, Gulfsands-acquired Hussain Global Consultants Limited, a dormant Abu Dhabi entity, which entity
was renamed Gulfsands Middle East Limited. The Company’'s registered address is: 24th Floor, 2461 Al Sila
Tower, ADGM Sgquare, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE

4.2 Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income

Key accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Fair value of the Group’s investment in Dijla Petroleum Company ("DPC”)

The Group's investment in DPC, the entity established in Syria, pursuant to the Block 26 PSC, to administer the Group's
Syrian oil and gas development and production-assets (and which for this purpose is considered to also include the
related rights to production under the PSC), is recorded as a “Financial asset held at farr value through other
Aoomprehensrve income” investment. .

Due to the unknown duration of UK Sanctions in force against Syria and uncertainty over the eventual -outcome of
events in the country, any valuation attributed to the investment is highly subjective and there are a wide range of
possible fair value measurements. Management have reviewed.their internal valuation methodology in 2022 (as well
as prior years) and continues to believe that as a result of the further passage of time, the significant future uncertainty
and the high degree of judgement required, itis not possible to rehabty estimate the investment's fair value. As part of
‘Managements internal valuation exercise they have identified a range of valuations for the investment. Management
have completed an assessment against the criteria outlined in IFRS9 and have concluded that for the aforementioned
reasons the historical cost of $102 million.represents the most appropriate fair value, with it being the last valuation
which could be rellably determined. The investment cost of $102 million is within the wide range of potentral outcomes ' .
calculated as part of the internal valuatron method.

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensrve income should be stated at fair value. Gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensrve income and accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve.

Impairment review of the Group's investment in DPC

As part of an internal review process, management assess the recoverability of the carrymg value of the Financial
asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income investment by comparison with the estimated discounted
* future net cash flows based on Management's expectatron of the future production, hydrocarbon prices, estimated time
"to resumption of production and costs.

The Group is party to a PSC for the exploitation of hydrocarbon production in Block 26 in Syria. Pursuant to the PSC
the Group.operates its Syrian oil and gas production assets through a joint venture administered by DPC in which the
Group has a 25% equity interest. The Group lost joint control of DPC on 1 December 2011 following the publication of
.European’ Union Council Decision 2011/782/CFSP. For the purposes of UK Sanctions, DPC is considered to be
controlled by General Petroleum Corporation ("GPC"). Since the Group has neither joint control nor significant influence
over the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity, it carries its investment in DPC and the associated rights
under the Block 26 PSC as an Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income. The carrying
value of the Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income investment at 31. December 2022
is $102 million (2021: $102 miillion).

v
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4.2 Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)
impairment review of the Group's investrnent in DPC (continued)
In order to carry out an internal impairment review, Management use an economic model of the estimated future cash
flows that could be generated in respect-of the Group's entitlement volumes in Block 26. The Management team have .
reviewed this in detail and believe due to the high degree of subjectivity inherent in the valuation it is imperative that
the valuation model and its key drivers and assumptlons are as transparent as possible. Management assessed the
key drivers to be:

.. the oil price; and

* the delay to resumption of production. ) L. .

1. OIl pnce

For the year ended 31- December 2022 Management have used ERC Equipose Ltd’s (Independent Energy Experts)
- Q1 2023 “base oil price deck” for the period from 2023 ($85 /bbl) to 2032 ($30 /bbl), and then a 2% per annum

escalation factor applied thereafter as the forecast for the.‘base case’ comparative valuation for the impairment review.

Given the other sources of oil price data reviewed, Management considers this to be an appropriate approach.

However, sensitivities are provided below showing the impact that a 25% and 50% rise and fall in oil price would have

on the impairment calculation. .

2. Delay to resumptlon of productlon
Gulfsands cannot give a definite timeline for the resumption of the full field development of the dlscovered fields wnthln
Block 26 that was suspended under the -declaration of Force Majeure in 2011. Whilst no definite timeline can be

" . substantiated, the Board continues to believe that the UK Sanctions will be lifted within the next five years and will

continue to monitor all activity focussed on resolving the situation in Syria. Based on the current situation in Syria, and
acknowledging the inherent uncertainty in any assumption regarding a retum date, the Board has concluded, as it did
last year, that an appropriate estimate for the resumption of operations is three years. Therefore, the Board has decided
to use commencement of production in three years as the estimate ‘base case’ comparative valuatuon for the
impairment review. . '

Other model assumptions

The model uses the production profiles based upon 2C contingent resources at Khurbet East (Massive, Butmah and
Kurrachine Dolomite), Yousefieh (Massive) and Al Khairat (Massive). As part of the CPR and FDP work undertaken by
OPC, production profiles were reanalysed and reconfirmed. The mode! has been amended accordingly. Receivables
are included in relation to oil produced and invoiced but not yet received, and oil produced and not yet invoiced, on the
expectation that these amounts will be recovered once UK Sanctions are lifted. The table below is based on using a
15% discount rate to glve a net present value ("NPV")

The economic-model calculates:

e  a Gross Contractor undiscounted NPV(O) of $2 74 billion;
Gulfsands 50% interest, undiscounted NPV(0) of $1.37 billion; and
Gulfsands 50% interest discounted NPV(10) of $491.5 million -
Gulfsands 50% interest discounted NPV(15) of $334.0 milfion.

The Group has used the NPV(15) of $334. 0 million (2021: $301.0 million) to conciude that no impairment is necessary
" but the following table sets out the NPV(15) calculated when adjusting the two key drivers: oil price and time delay to
resumption of production. All figures are presented in $ m|II|on

Oil price ' Delay to first produetion .
. One-.year’delay - Three-year delay ) Five-year delay
50% decrease 2345 . . 142.0 775
25% decrease 310 2385 139.5
ERCE's Q1 2023 base oil price deck - + 6280°' - ,3_347.07 -+ 200.5
25% increase 674.5 429.5- 261.0

50% increase N 821.5 §25.0 - 3215
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4.2 Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)
Fair value of the Group’s investment in Dijla Petroleum Company (“DPC”) (continued)
The following table sets out the impact that changes in the key variables would have on the comparative valuahon of
thé asset, $334 million, for the impairment review.
' Change in comparative valuatlon of investment from $334
million [$ MIIIIOHL

Delay until first production

Syears . . . . - . (133.5)

1 years - : : 194.0
QOil price Co . .

50% decrease . o . . ) (192.0)

25% decrease , ' (95.5)

25% increase T . . : 95.5

50% increase . . : 191.0
Change in discount rate to B ’

20% : . . o : (95.0)
N 10% . : . 167.5
Change in forecast capex ’ .

25% increase . - . ’ ' (12.5)

25% decrease - . ) : 12.5
Change in forecast opex : Co

25% increase ’ ) : . ) (6.0)

25% decrease . . - 6.5

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of this Flnanclal assét held at fair value through other comprehensrve :
income at 31 December 2022 and are of the opinion that no impairment is required to the camrying value. Although the
carrying value is subject to significant uncertainty, Management believes it remains appropriate in the circumstances,
although not necessarily reflective of the value of the Group's investments in its Syrian operations over the long term
once re-entry into Syria is completed. Management reiterate that there is a high degree of subjectivity inherent in the
valuation calculated for impairment purposes, due to the unknown duration of the sanctions and the eventual outcome
of events in Syria. Accordingly, it may change materially in future periods depending on a wide range of factors and an
|mpa|nnent may then be required. .

In a separate exercise, as part of the 2019 CPR and subsequentiy—updated each year since, OPC undertook an
economic evaluation of the Company's entire Block 26 assets including'both.Contingent and Prospective Resources.
None of these evaluations have taken into account any of the above-ground risks associated with the assets, but they
"did consider a range of possible valuation scenarios and indicated a central range of risked Expected Monetary Value
("EMV”) of the Block 26 assets, mcludmg both Contingent and Prospectnve Resources of $1 billion - $1.5 bllllon (net
share to Gulfsands). .
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. Section 5 — Results for. the Year
5.1 Segmental analysis of continuing operations -
For management purposes, during 2021 and 2022 the Group operated in two geographlcal areas: Suspended
operations in Syria (as discussed in note 4.2) and Colombia (which ceased in-late 2022). All segments are involved
with the production of and exploration for, oil and gas. The “Other” segment represen’ts corporate and head office costs.

The Group's results and certain asset and liability information for the year are analysed by reportable segment as

follows; ) <
Year ended 31 December 2022 ' Syria Colombia Other - Total(
. ~___$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
" Total administrative expenditure -~ ) (768) - (298) (1,680) (2,746)
Exploration costs written off/impaired . . — R C— —
Recovery of restricted cash balances —_ 1,520 —_ 1,520
.Operating (loss)/profit - (768) 1,222  (1,680) (1,226)
Financing cost ’ ’ ) . __(270)
Net loss from continuing operations . ) (1,496)
Total assets : : 102,576 — 1228 103,804
Total liabilities C (4,090) —  (13,620) (17,710)
E&E capital expenditure ) — — — —
Year ended 31 December 2021 : . Syria  Colombia Other Total
. < $'000 $'000 $000 . $000
Total administrative expenditure . - " (629) {209) (2,028) (2,867)
Exploration costs written off/impaired —_ = — L —
Operating loss - . (629) (209) (2,028)  (2,867)
Financing cost ‘ ' . . ) (1,324)
Net loss from continuing operations S : : (4,191)
Total assets . . 102,680 . T 15 - 901 103,596
Total liabilities ' ) 4,172) — . (12,149)  (16,321)
E&E capital expenditure o — — . — —

5.2 Operating loss
" The Group's operating loss for continuing operations is stated after charging: ’ . . o
’ . 2022 ’ - 2021

. : © $'000 ) $'000
Share-based payment charges (note 5.3) ' . 57 ) ) 1
Depreciation and amortisation of other assets (notes 2.2 and 2.3) R - —
Exploration expenditure written-offimpaired (note 2.3) — —
Staff costs excluding share-based payments (note 5.5) ’ . 1,752 1,763
Lease rentals . ’ )
Buildings”. . 44 20

. Leases

Rentals payable under leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease tenn

53 Share-based payments’ : ’ .
The Company has made equity-settled share-based payments to certain’ employees and/or Directors by way of issues
of share options. The fair value of these payments is calculated at grant date by the Company using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The expense is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period from the date of award to the date of vesting, based on the Company'’s best estimate
of the number of options that will eventually vest. At each Balance Sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of
the number of options expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulatlve expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to-retained profit.

The only share—based plan currently in operation is the Gulfsands Restricted Share Plan which was introduced in 2010
and was due to expire in 2020 but has been extended to 2030. Under this plan, share awards may be granted to
Directors and members of staff and may be based upon length of service and/or linked to achievement of performance
criteria. All instruments outstandlng and |ssued during the year under this plan are share options to purchase Ordinary
Shares in the Company.

£
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5.3 Share-based payments (contmued)

Share options are issued with an exercise price equlvalent to the underlying share price averaged over a period
immediately prior to the date of grant, or such other exercise price as the Remuneration Committee may determine.
Share options will usually-have a deferred vesting period and a maximum validity period of ten years. The share-based
payment charge for the period is based upon the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment'. For this purpose,-
the estimated fair value of the share options granted was calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. No
dividends were factored into the model and volatility was estimated based on a combination of historic and anticipated
price performance. The estimated fair value of share options with a deferred vesting period is charged to the Income
Statement over the vesting period of the options concemed. The estimated fair value of options exercisable immediately
is expensed at the time of issuance of the award. The. charge for the year was $57,000 (2021: $1,000) and further
details are provnded in note 6.1.

During 2016, John Bell was appointed full time Managing Director and Andrew Morris was appointed Finance Director
on a less than full time basis. In view of the continuing uncertainty surrounding the Company'’s business in Syria and
the shortage of available funds, it was decided that remuneration packages for these two executives should be a
combination of base salary and share options. Accordingly, John Bell was awarded 8 million share options and Andrew
Morris 5 million share options. 4 million of Mr Bell’s options and 3 million of Mr Morris” were set to vest quarterly over
a two-year period from July 2016 dependent in part on continued service during that period and in part on performance
criteria related to the achlevement of strategic objectives. All these options have now vested.

The vesnng schedule of the addmonal 4 million and 2 miillion options respecﬂvely was not set at the time of issuance
but during 2018, the Board confirmed the vesting criteria would be based upon operational targets. In agddition,
contractual terms were clarified which resulted in Mr. Morris being issued an additional 1 million such options! Once
vested, the options are exercisable for a period of 10 years (from 2016)." In 2018, half of these remaining, unvested
2016 options vested on the completion of the Putumayo-14 farmout (2 million and 1.5 million options respectively). In
May 2022, following confirmation of the mutual termination of the: Llanas-50 licence, the remammg half of these options
(2 million and 1.5 million options respectively) vested.

Share options were also granted to the Chairman and two new Non-Executive Directors in 2016. These options were
not subject to performance criteria. Half of their respective awards vested on the date of award in 2016 and the other
half vested after one year in mid-2017. :

During 2017, 1,800,000 stock options were issued to Iéey members of Staff, which options were not subject to
performance criteria and vested after one year. -

During 2018, in addition to the clarifications on the 2016 stock options issued to Mr. Bell and Mr. Morris as described
above, the Board issued additional options to Mr Bell and Mr Morris to vest based upon strategic goals in relation to
Syria. Mr Bell was issued 8 million such options and Mr. Morris was issued 4 million such options (2018 Executive
Options”). These 2018 Executive Options are set to accumulate to the holders over a period of 3 years (in 6 equal
tranches, each 6 months starting on 1 July 2018) but will only vest upon the achievement of key strategic milestones
in respect of Syria. Once vested the 2018 Executlve Options are exercisable for a period of 10 years (from July 2018) *
and have a strike price of 5 pence.

During 2020, all remaining 2018 Executive Options accumulated, but remain unvested. Also, during the year, following
negotiations with the Company, Mr Bell and Mr. Morris agreed to surrender 1,200,000 each of theif 2018 Executive
Options. Therefore, as of 1 January 2021, the number of outstanding 2018 Executive Options is 9,600,000, which have
accumulated, but none have vested (Mr. Bell 6,800,000, Mr. Morris 2,800,000). These options have’ been charged to
the profit and loss account based upon their accumulation schedule..

Also, during 2020, a tax advantaged Company Share Optton Scheme (CSOP) was lntroduced for Staff and Executive
" Directors. During the year 4,400,000 CSOP options (Executive Directors: 2,400,000, Staff: 2,000,000) were issued with
a strike price of 5 pence per'share. The CSOP options issued to Staff are not subject to performance criteria and vest
after three years. The CSOP options issued to Executive Directors will vest upon the earlier of the achievement of key
strategic milestones in respect of Syria.and a period of three years. These remain unvested. Once vested, the CSOP
options are exercisable for a period of 10 years (from grant date in 2020).

As a result of the Mandatory Offer in May 2021, Mr Bell exercised 6 million 2016 optlons and Mr Morris exercised 4.5

million 2016 options into the Mandatory Offer. All other options were rolled forward to continue to exist under their

original terms and the Gulfsands Restricted Share Plan. As a result of the Mandatory Offer the CSOP options continue
to exist but have lost their tax advantaged status.

During 2021, 2,000,000 stock options were issued to members of Gulfsands Strategic Advisory Board which options
are scheduled to vest in four tranches between December 2021 and June 2023 (1,500,000 options have vested as at
31 December 2022). These options have a maturity of 10 years from issuance and a strike price of 5 pence per share.
During 2022, 1,050,000 stock options were issued to John Bell and Andrew Morris, which options are not subject to
- performance criteria and vested immediately. These options have a maturity of 10 years from issuance and a strike
price of 1 pence per share.
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5.3 Share-based payments (continued)

Fair value of share options granted .

The fair value of options granted under the share options scheme is estlmated as at the date of grant using a- vanant
. of the Black Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options are granted, which

‘includes the performance conditions. The following table lists the mputs to the model used for the options granted in

the year ended 31 December 2022.

_Year Issued: ] . . 2022 . 2021
Dividend yield: ’ . . a
Expected share price volatility ' ) - : n/a : nla
Risk free interest rate B A © 50.0% : : 50.0%
Exercise price T . o 3.0% . 2.0%

'Expected/maximum life of option . s "  Spence - . 5 pence

(vears) : . _ ' : 10 10

5.4 Auditor's remuneration o
Details of the auditor’s remuneration is set out in the table below: -

2022 2021
. $°000 $'000 -
Fees.payable to the Company'’s principal auditor for the audit of:
Company’s accounts - . ) . 85 . 68
Company’s subsidiaries . . ) - =
Total audit fees i 85 68

Audit related assurance services I L . - T —
Total non-audit fees ’ —_ : - —

Fees payable to other auditors for the audit of:

Company's subsidiaries - Lo 5 20

Total audit fees ) ) 5 . 20

Taxation compliance services -8 ' 8
8

Other taxation advisory services

Total ion-audit fees 8
5.5 Staff costs Co )
The aggregate payroll costs of staff and Directors were as follows: o .
’ 2022 2021
. . $°000 . $'000
Wages and salaries : 1,569 1,530
Pension costs : : 8 . 11
Social security costs . ) . ' . 150 194
Share-based payment charges . ’ . 57 1
Other benefits in kind s 25 : 28
: ’ 1,809 1,764
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group, including Directors was as fol!ows: .
- 2022 . 2021
Operational and technical : 1 ) ) 2
Administrative - Y 7 9

8 11

5.6 Dlrectors' emoluments
Details of the | remunerahon of D:rectors are mcluded in the Directors’ Corporate Governance Report on page 33.

5.7 Taxatlon

Current tax :

Current tax, including UK Corporation Tax and overseas tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered)
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantlvely enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

Where current or deferred tax arises from the mmal accounting for a business combmahon the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

2022 . - 2021

. . $'000 ~__$'000
Current Comoration Tax:

UK Corporation Tax . . 0 = .-
Overseas Corporation Tax : : — —

Total credit . ' — —
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December 2022 :

5.7 Taxation {(continued)
Current tax (continued)
The Group's effective tax rate differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK domestlc oorporatlon
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

L2022 0 2021

: $'000 $'000

Total loss before tax from continuing operations ’ - {1,496) (4,191)

~ Tax calculated at domestic rate of 19% (2021: 18%) - - (284) - (796)
Effects of: ) . S
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes . oL (26) . . 42
PSC expenses not subject to corporation tax( ) : 28 135
Tax losses utilised 87 (167)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was reoogmsed : . 133 781
Impact of local tax rates . : 62 - 5

. (1) The Group's tax liabilities in Syria are settied on its behalf by the national oil companies out of the latter’s share of
royalties and profit oil and, as such, are not reflected in the Group's tax charge for the year.

Deferred tax C

Deferred tax assets and liabilities' are determined based on differences between financiat reportung and tax bases of
assets'and liabilities and are measured using the enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is evaluated annually,
and an impairment provision is ‘made if it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not give rise to future
benefitsiin the Group's tax returns. Deferred tax assets are not provided where the Group does not consider it probable
that sufficient future taxable profits will be made to offset the deductions represented by those deferred tax assets. In
‘performing this calculation, the Group considers deferred tax balances relating to each tax authority separately. No
deferred tax assets have been provided in respect of losses carried forward and other temporary timing differences as
the Board does not consider it probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be made to offset the deductions
represented by those deferred tax assets.

The tax effect of amounts for which no deferred tax asset has been reoognlsed is as follows:

2022 - 2021

. . $'600 $'000

DD&A and impairment in excess of tax allowances . 190 . R 144
- Other short-term temporary differences - : — L. =
Tax losses carried forward ' B 11,088 © . 10,449
- Unrecognised deferred tax asset ) - ~(11,278) - (10,593)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 31 December ~ - : = . —

* The main corporation tax rate in the UK increased from 19% to 25% on 1 April 2023, which has already impacted the
rate at which deferred tax is recognised due to this being substantively enacted as at 31 December 2022.

$0.3 miliion of the Group's unutilised tax losses expire within one to five years of the Balance Sheet date.

5.8 Loss per share .
The basic and diluted loss per share has been calculated using the loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 of $1.49
million (2021: $4.19 million) for both continuing operahons and for the loss’ attributable to the owners of the parent
company.. .

- The basic loss per share was-calculated using a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 572,485,785
(2021: 567,749,210). The weighted average number of ordinary shares, allowing for the exercise of share options and

_new ordinary shares subject of potential future conversion pursuant to the terms of the Lender's Conversion Option
and Company's Extinguishment Option, for the purposes. of calculating the diluted loss per share was 818,614,156
(2021: 812,399,086), however, where there is a loss, the |mpact of share options is not dilutive and hence, basuc and
diluted loss per share are the same..

Section 6 — Capltal Structure and Other Disclosures

Equity instruments

Group and Company i

Equity instruments issued by the Company, bemg any instruments with a residual interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all its liabilities, are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Companys own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No galn or loss is
recogmsed in proﬁt or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

Sectlon 6- Capltal Structure and Other Disclosures (continued)

Share premium account

The share premium account represents the amounts received by the Company on the issue of its shares which were
in excess of the nominal value of the shares. } .

Retained eamlngs

Cumulative net gains and losses reoognlsed in the Statement of Comprehenstve Income Iess any amounts reﬂected
" directly in other reserves. The share option reserve has been mcluded within the retalned deficit and is a non-

distributable reserve. . .

6.1 Share ca'pital

Group and Company .
: 2022 - 2021
. $'000 $'000

Allotted, called up and fully paid: .

572,495,785 Ordmary Shares of 1 pence (2021: 572 495 785 Ordinary Shares 19,491 19,491
of 1 pence) ) ) L

On 17 September 2015, each of the Company's existing ordinary shares were subdivided into one ordinary share of 1
pence and one deferred share of 4.7142865 pence. Consequently, other than the ordinary share referenced in the
above table, there are in issue 121,989,500 deferred shares. The rights of both the.ordinary and the deferred shares
are as set out in the Atticles of Association as amended 15 September 2015. Deferred shares in issue do not have
votlng rights and are not entitled to dividends.

The movements in share capital and share options were:

Number of Numberof -~ Number of 2010  Weighted average

ordinary shares  deferred shares Restricted Share exercise price

) . . Plan options of options (£)

At 31 December 2021 . : 572,495,785 121,989,500 . 25,400,000 0.04

Share options'granted . B —_ — 1,050,000 - - 0.05
Share options lapsing . ) - — . (600,000) 0.05 ‘

_unexercised ) -
At 31 December 2022 © 572,495,785 121,989,500 25,850,000 0.0407

The detail of the share options outstanding at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Maturity date ' . Year share options Exercise ‘pn'ce of Number of
: vest options (£ pence) share options

11 November 2026 ) See Note 5.3 1.00 3,500,000
11 November 2026 - . 2016 - 2018 .. 3315 4,000,000
5 July 2028 . 2018 ) 425 1,900,000
28 June 2028 . ) See Note 6.3 5.00 9,600,000
30 June 2030 . - o See Note 5.3 5.00 3,800,000
7 December 2031 . See Note 5.3 5.00 2,000,000
31 December 2032 ' See Note 5.3 . 1.00 1,050,000
) ) - 4.07 25,850,000

Of the share options outstanding, 4,550,000 options have an exercise price of 1 pence per-share, 4,000,000 options
have an exercise price of 3.375 pence per share, 1,900,000 have an exercise price of 4.25 pence and 15,400,000 have
an exercise price of 5.00 pence. The weighted average exercise price of stock options is 4.07 pence. -

" The highest share price during the year was £0.045 Aand the lowest price was £0.045 (2021: £0.045 and '£0.045). 3

As a result of the amendment to the 2017 Facility in November 2019, the Outstanding amount under the 2017 Facility
became convertible into Ordinary Shares at a price of 5 pence per share. As at 31 December 2022, the Outstanding -
amount under the 2017 Facnhty was £12,305,918.46 ($16.6 mllllon) which would ‘be convertible into 246,118,371
Ordinary Shares. ’

. 6.2 Capital contribution reserve.
Group and Company

-2022 2021
. $'000 $'000
As at 1 January . 2,994 2,367
" Equity element of convertible loan note (see note 3.6) ' o o 257 ) 146
Recycling of capital contribution reserve through retained eamings . : - (2,513)
' Extension.-of secured loan from 31.12.2021 to 31.12. 2023 ’ o - 2,994

At 31 December - , . : 3,251 2,994
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_Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 '

6.2 Capital contribution reserve (continued) - .

Group and Company (continued) : ‘

As described in note 3.6 the capital contribution reserve was first established as a result of the 2019 amendment to the
'2017 Facility when it became zero-coupon and convertible. It now reflects the discounted value of the note as a resuit
of the December 2021 amendment, and at each drawdown. All subsequent drawdowns are also split between a Debt
and an Equity element in accordance with IFRS 9. The value of the debt is reflected in note 3.6. :

. 6.3 Financial instruments, derivatives and capital management

Risk assessment

The Group’s oil and gas actuvmes are subject to a range of financial risks, as described below, which can s:gnrf cantly
impact its performance.

Liquidity risk

At the end of the year the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $1.11-million, and further bank balances of $0.5
million held in escrow to guarantee minimum work obligations. Cash forecasts identifying the liquidity requirements of
the Group are produced frequently. These are reviewed regularly by management and the Board.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets and
liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the .
financial assets and liabilities based upon the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay or receipt. The
table includes both interest and gross undiscounted cash flows. .

Three More

Less than months than
three to one One to three
months year three years years Total
: $'000 $'000 $°000 . $'000 $°000
31 December 2022 ’ ’ Lo o
Current trade and other payables {540) — — - (540)
Non-current trade and other payables - — - = (3,810) (3,810)
Loan facility ] — {13,360) — — (13,360)
(540) (13,360) . — (3,810) (17,710)
31 December 2021 ) '
Current trade and other payables : ' (367) — . — —_ (367)
Non-current trade and other payables : - — T — . (3972) (3,972)
" Loan facility — — (11,982) — (11,982)
(367) — "~ {(11,982) (3,972) .. (16,321)

During 2022, the loan facility had a weighted average effective.interest rate of 0% (2021: 0%). Although there is no
interest payable under the new terms of the 2017 Facility, the non-cash effective interest rate of 12% is accrued on the
discounted debt liability over the life of the facility, to reflect the Directors’ view of the arm’s length cost of funding of
the business. No other balances in the table above are interest bearing.

Currency risk

The Group has currency exposure arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Company and all its subsidiaries, US Dollars. These transactions relate to certain costs of its oil and
gas exploration and production operations which are denominated in local currencies or in Euro, and its head office
costs, which are denominated in Pounds Sterling. ' .

Given the 2017 Facility is convertible into equity by the Lenders or the Company, and that the Company's equity and
2017 Facility are denominated in Pounds Sterling, foreign currency exposure of the 2017 Faclllty is not included in the
Group’s net assets and loss before tax sensitivity tables below.

In Syna where operations_are covered by PSCs, costs incurred i in currencies other than US Dollars are recoverable
under the terms of the PSC at the rate of exchange belween US Dollars and that currency at the date of payment of
the expense. ,

The Group maintains part of its cash balances in Pounds Sterfing to defray head office costs but limits exposure to
other currencies as far as practicable. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to changes in the US Dollar
. exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, on the Group's net assets:

Effect on

Change in net assets

) . US Dollar rate : ) $'000
2022 . - . (+or-)5% - -~ +-58
2021 (+ or -) 5% +/- 44
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Notes to the Consolldated Flnanclal Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

6.3 Financial instruments, derivatives and capital management (continued)
Credit risk .

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to changes in the US Dollar exchange rate, with all other variables
held constant, on the Group’s (loss) before tax:

. Effect on (loss)

- . Change in before tax

. . ] US Dollar rate . : ) $'000
2022 s ) i . ) (+or-) 5% : ' +/-88

2021 ° . (+or-) 5% +- 101

"Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter-party will default on'its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's operations are typically structured via contractual joint venture an'angements As such, the -
Group is reliant on joint venture partners to. fund their capital or other funding obllgahons in relation to assets and
operations which are not yet cash generative. The Group closely monitors the risks and maintains a close dialogue
with those counterparties considered to be highest risk in this regard.

In addition, the Company is reliant for funding ‘upon the availability of up to £4.5 &\illion (£3.5 million as at 25 May 2023)
under the 2017 Facility, from its Major Shareholders (of which £2.5 million is 'subject to further. Major Shareholder
consent). The Board remains in regular dlalogue with Major Shareholders to ensure the Group retalns their ongonng .
support. .

' . To measure expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables and contract assets are grouped based on
similar credit risk and aging. The contract assets have similar risk characteristics to the trade receivables for similar
types of contracts. The Directors do not consider that any further provns:on is necessary against any financial assets.

Capltal risk management :

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to -provide retums for shareholders and benefits for ‘other stakeholders and, to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may retum capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. ’

THe capital sfrﬁcture of the Group consists of net debt (bon;ov.vings as disclosed in note 3.6 after deducting cash and.
_ cash equivalents and restricted cash balances as dlsclosed in note.3.2) and equity of the Group (comprising issued
.capital, reserves and retained earnings).

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets consist of long-term financial assets its Financial asset held at fair value through other
comprehensive income investment in DPC, cash at bank and receivables. The interest rate profile at 31 December for:
these assets at US Dollar equwalents was as follows:

Financial assets Financial assets

- on which on which no )
' interest is earned interest is earned : Total
: $'000 ) $000 - '$'000
2022 s ) ‘.
US Dollar . . i 5 102,512 102,517
Pound Stering —_ 985 985
Euro - 179 . 179
Other currencies — 123 123
5 103,799 103,804
Financial assets Financial assets
on which on which no
interest is eamed interest is eamed Total’
) $'000 $'000 $'000
2021 - )
US Dollar . 5 102,517 ©.102,522
Pound Sterling — 753 753
Euro — 303 © 303
Other currencies — . 18 . 18
) 5 103,591 103,596

The Pound Sterling, Euro and Syrian Pound assets principally comprise cash in hand, cash in instant access accounts
and short-term money market deposits. The US Dollar assets represent a Financial asset held at fair value through -
other comprehensive income financial asset, cash on call accounts, money market accounts, and short-term
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolldated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2022

6.3 Financial instruments, derivatives and capital management (continued) ' o
Financial assets (continued) '

In the current economic climate with exceptionally low interest rates, the Group is not sensitive to fluctuations in the
mterest rate received on bank and money market deposits and accordingly no sensmvuty anaIySIs is published.

Included in financial assets on which no interest'is earned at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was a gnoss amount of
$25.3 million of trade receivables that has been fully provided against. This amount is due from the government of the
Syrian Arab Republicin respect of oil sales in Syria. Due to the ongoing sanctions against the country's oil industry the
payment of this amount has been delayed and, taking into account the current exceptional circumstances in Syria and .
the consequential difficulty of predicting the timing of future paymerit, has been fully impaired. The recovery of this
amount is included ‘within the impairment calculations modelled when reviewing the Syrian mvestment for any
impairment, see note 4.2 for further details.

The remaining trade receivables eonsnst of amounts receivable from various counterparties where the Group considers
the credit risk to be low. This risk is monitored by the Group.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities consist of both short-term and long- term payables in addition to the 2017 Facility. None
.of the short and long-term payables bear interest to extemal parties. The 2017 Facility interest was 7% per annum until
29 November 2019 when it was reduced to 0%. Note that as at 31 December 2022, the Group had $16.6 million (2021:
$15.0 million) actual debt outstanding under the 2017 Facility, which, in accordance with accounting standards, is
presented in the balance sheet as $16.6 million being $13.3 million as a debt liability. (shown in the table above) and

_ $3.3 million through equity. '

The Group's short-term Iiabitities are considered to be bayable on demand. Despite the 2017 Facility bearing no
interest, under IFRS 8, interest is imputed at 12% which is reﬂected in the tables below. At 31 December financial .

liabilities are classified as shown below:

Financiai liabilities

Financial liabilities

on which interest on which no
is charged interest is charged Total
$'000 $°000 $'000
2022 -
US Dollar — 4,090 4,090
Pound Stering 13,360 - 260 13,620
Other currencies — — —
. 13,360+ - 4,350 17,710
Financial liabilities . Financial liabilities
on which interest on which no
is charged interest is charged Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
2021
US Dollar — 3,589 . 3,589
Pound Sterling 11,982 186 12,168
Other currencies — - 22 22
) 3,797 15,779

11,982

Commodity price rlsk

The realisation of the carrying values of oit and gas- .assets within these Consolidated Financial Statements, and the
value of the Group’s Financial asset held at fair.value through other comprehensive income financial assets, being the
Syrian interests, are in part dependent upon future oil and gas prices achieved. Note 4.2 gives details of the impact of
a change in the oil price on the valuation of Financia! asset held at fair value through other comprehensive i income
financial assets. In 2022 and 2021 the Group did not'enter into any derivative contracts. .

Fair values - ’ :

The.Group's investment in DPC, the entity estabhshed in Syna pursuant to the PSC, to admlmster the Group s Synan
.oil and.gas development and production assets (and for these purposes which is considered to also.include the related
rights to production under the PSC), is recorded as an Financial asset held at fair value through other comprehensive
income investment. Due to the unknown duration of UK Sanctions in force against Syria and uncertainty over the
eventual outcome of events in the country, any valuation attributed to the investment is highly subjective and subject
to material change and uncertainty. Management believes that-as a result of the further passage of time.and the high -
degree of judgement required, it is not possible to reliably estimate the investment's fair value. Management will
therefore carry forward the last valuation which could be reliably determined, being the $102 million previously -
disclosed. This value will be reviewed periodically as described further in note 4.2. At 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Directors considered the fair values and book values of the Group's fi nancnal assets and liabilities to be level 3
valuations.
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v

6.4 Related party transactions and key management

Key management of the Group are considered to be the Dlrectors of the Company Directors’ interests in shares and
their remuneration and share options are disclosed in the Directors’ Corporate Govemnance Report on page 33. The
remuneration of Directors for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ is: ’

2022 - 2021

- : : . $'000 $'000

* Short-term employee benefits . 681 - 797
Share-based payments - : 57 o

) 738 797

The 2017 Facility is deemed a related party transaction as a result of the affiliation of Director’ Mr Kroupeev to the
Major Shareholders.

All of the above related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length
transactions. Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries
_are disclosed in note 6.6 of the Company Financial Statements. There were no other related party transactions of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 or 2021:

6 5 Obligations under leases
At the end of the year the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases
as follows:

2022 : . . 2021
Land and S Lo Land and )
buildings . " Other buildings - Other
$'000 $'000 ~$'000 $'000
Amounts payable on leases: . '
Within one year 114 — 12 —
In two to five years 11° : — — . —

125 ] — . - 12 —

There are no future minimum sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at the end
of the reporting period (31 December 2021 $nil).

" 6.6 Contingent liabilities

Claim by Al Mashrek Group in Syria
Al Mashrek Global investment Ltd ("Al Mashrek®) has fi led a claim with the Courts in Damascus, Syria, against

Gulfsands Petroleum Levarit Limited (incorporated in Cayman Islands) (“GPLL") and the Syrian registered branch of - .

GPLL on the grounds that Al Mashrek was not properly notified of the Group’s Open Offer completed in January 2016
and hence lost the opportunity to subscribe for new shares in the Open Offer and as a result Al Mashrek’s equity was
subsequently diluted. The value of the claim is $2'million, although no justification has yet been provided for this value.

In 2019 the Courts in Damascus, Syria accepted the request of Al Mashrek to amend the name of the defendant from
GPLL and the Syrian registered branch of GPLL, to Gulfsands Petroleum Pic. Consequently, a submission was made
to the Court challenging its jurisdiction over a claim against Gulfsands Petroleum Plc, and the branch of GPLL in Syria
also submnted a request to the Court to ofﬁo«ally remove GPLL from the claim. Neither of these requests have yet
been granted.

In connection with the original claim, the Court of Appeal of Damascus issued an order of provisional attachment on
Gulfsands’ moveable and immovable assets in Syria, including GPLL's share of Block 26. The plaintiff has not been

" successful in putting this provisional attachment order into effect. The Group therefore believes that there are no assets
to which Al Mashrek's clalm is attached.

During 2022 there were further hearings in Court. The Court awaits a report from the Miniétry of Petroleum and Mineral
Resources, following which, the Court’s expert will issue a report to the Court, and the Oourt will then issue a preliminary
decision.

Gulfsands continues to obtain legal advuce on th:s matter and is determmed to protect its rlghts in Syria, to rwst and
ultimately dismiss this claim.

Management believe the outflow of funds in relation to this clanm to be possible but not probable and therefore no
provision has been made as at 31 December 2022.

6.7 Post balance sheet event
Colombia branch (Group and Company)
Following the mutual termination of the Llanos-50 licence in Colombia, the orderly administrative exit from Colomb:a

was completed during 2022, with the in-country branch formally-liquidated way of a solvent Ilqmdatlon Official
confirmation of this was received in early February 2023.
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Parent Company Financial Statements_

C’ompany Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes -__-__$'coo . $'000
Assets '
Non-current assets . co R . -

. Property, plant and equipment . 2.1 - ) -
intangible assets ’ ’ . 22. . - . -
Investments in subsidiaries : ’ T3 7,307 ' 7,307
Amounts due from subsidiaries 4.1 54,461 53,547
. : : 61,768 60,854
Current assets B ) .
Trade and other receivables ) A 4 . 167’ 182

~_Cash and cash equivalents ] . 42 1,065 122,

. ' - 1,232 204
Total assets , : . ) 63,000 .. 61,758
Liabilities ’

Current llabilities . .
Trade and other payables 4.4 251 191
Loans and borrowings . 4.5- . 13,350 -
. . i . . 13,6214 191
Non-current liabilities . :
- Loans and borrowings R 4.5 ' — 11,882
* Total liabliities . ) 13,621 12,173
Net Assets . ’ - 49,379 . 49,585 .
Equity
‘Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders : .
Share capital . 6.1 T 49,491 19,491
Share premium : 112,909 112,909
Capital contribution reserve . ' . - ) 3,251 2,984
Retained loss ) {86.272) {85.809)
Total equity S 49,379 49,585

The Coti‘lpa_ny has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, to not present the -
parent company income statement. The net loss for the parent company was $0.5 million (2021' $3 6 million).

The Financial Statements of Gulfsands Petroleum plc (registered number; 05302880) were approved by the Board of
Directors on 25 May -2023 and signed on its behalf by P

el 72
Andrew James Marris

Finance Director . ,
25 May 2023 ) - :
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Parent'Company Financial Statements

Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 Dei;ember 2022

Capital .
Share Share contribution Retained
capital premium reserve (lossyprofit " Total equity
$000 ~  $000 - $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2021 19,346 112,909 2,367 (84,751) 49,871
Loss for 2021 - - - (3,572) (3,572)
Transactions with owners ’
Share-based payment — — — 1 1
charge oL .
Shares issued 145 - - - . 145
Equity element of f— — 146 — 146
convertible loan note
Recycling of convertible loan — — (2,513) 2,513 —
note through retained ’
eamings » . :
Extension of secured loan . —_ — 2,994 — 2,994
from 31.12.2021, to . .
31.12.2023 : : 5
At 31 December 2021 19,491 112,909 2,994 (85,809) 49,585
. Loss for 2022 - — — (520) (520) .
Transactions with owners .
. Share-based payment
charge - — .= .57 . 57
Equity element of — — 257 — 257
convertible loan note .
‘At 31 December 2022 19,491 112,909 3,251 (86,272) 49,379
i
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Parent.Company Financial Statements

Company Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes $'000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities .
Operating loss (437) (2,241) -
Share-based payment charge 57 1
Decrease in receivables 41 15 78
Increase/(decrease) in payables 4.4 70 {40)
Net cash used in operations (295) (2,202)
Finance expenses paid - (66) - (61)
.Foreign exchange losses (148) (109)
Net cash used in operating activities {509) (2,372)
Investing activities
Funds transfemred to subsidiaries {714) - (520)
Net cash used in investing activities (714) {520)
Financing activities
Loan draw-down " 1,566 2,769
Share issue — 145
Net cash received from financing activities 1,566 2,914
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 343 (22)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . - 722 744
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4.2 1,065 722

" Gulfsands Petroleum pic Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

Section 1 — Basis of Preparatlon

1.1 Authorisation of Financial Statements and statement of compllance with IFRSs.

Gulfsands Petroleum plc is a public limited company and incorporated.in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of

the Company is that of provision of services to its subsidiaries which are engaged in oil and gas production, exploration
. and development activities.

The Company Financial Statemehts for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 25 May 2023 and the Balance Sheet was signed on the Board's behalf by Andrew James Morris, Finance
Director. :

The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with intemational accounting standards in
conformity with the reqmrements of the Companies Act 2006 The principal accountlng pollmes adopted are set out |n
note 1.3. :

1.2 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards :
The Company's Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and for the comparative year ended 31
December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with UK adoptedIntemational Financial Repomng Standards ("UK
adopted IFRS”) in accordance with the provisions of the Compames Act 2006. '

See note 1.3b to the Consolldated Financial Statements for details of new IFRS and mterpnetatlons

1.3 Significant accounting policies :

- a) Basis of preparation and accountmg standards .

The Company’s significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the Company Flnanmal Statements are set
out in the notes below

-The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with intemational accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, except for share-based payments, under the
historical cost convention. They have also been prepared on the gomg concem basis of accounting, for the reasons
set out in note 1.3a to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b) Reporting currency . :

These Company Financial Statements are presented in US Dollars The Companys operations are undertaken ‘in
Pounds Sterling, Euros and US Dollars. The majority of costs associated with foreign operations are paid in US Dollars
and all loan balances with subsidiary undertakings are denominated in US Dollars. Therefore, the presentational and
functional currency of the Company is the US Dollar. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions, if any, are
recognised in the Income Statement for the year. The effective exchange rate to the Pound Sterling for the year ended
31 December 2022 was £1: $1.25 (2021: £1::$1.37). The exchange rate to the Pound Sterling on 31 December 2022
was £1: §1. 21 (2021: £1: $1.35).

14 Crmcal accountmg judgements and key sources of estlmatlon uncertamty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described below, the Directors are requlred to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily '
apparent from other sources. The.estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other

factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying

assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the penod of revision and future periods if the
revision affeds both current and future periods.

The Company s operations are undertaken-in Pounds Sterling, Euros and US Dollars. The majority of costs associated
with foreign operations are paid in US Dollars and all loan balances with subsidiary undertakings are 'denominated in
US Dollars. The most appropriate presentational and functional currency is considered to be the US Dollar Such
judgement is revnewed periodically.

IFRS 8, requires the Cémpany to make assumptions when implementing the forward-looking expected credit loss
model. This model is required to be used to assess intercompany loan receivables from the Companies subsidiaries
for impairment. Arriving at the expected credit loss allowance involved considering different scenarios for the recovery

" of the intercompany loan receivables, the possible credit losses that could arise and the probabilities for these
scenarios. The following was considered; the exploration project risk, country risk, the expected future oil prices, the
value of the potenhal resefves, the ability to sell the project, and the ability to find a new farm-out partner. :
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Section 2 — Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

2.1 Property, plant and equnpment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecnatlon and any provision for lmpalrment
Depreciation is charged so as to write-off the cost, less estimated residual value, of assets ona straight-line basis over
their useful lives of between two and five years i

Office’ equment,

fixtures and fittings

$'000

Cost: . o . : . :

" _At1January 2021 : - : 61

At 1 January 2022 I - 61

At 31 December 2022 - : . 61

Accumulated depreciation: E ] : o

At 1 January 2021 - . ) o : T (81)
Charge for 2021 . -

At 1 January 2022 ] (61)

Charge for 2022 . - ] : —

At 31 December 2022 . : - (61)

- Net book value at31 D ber 2022 ] .- ] . =
Net book value at 31 December 2021 . ) ] . —_

2.2 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost Iéss accumulated amortisation and any prows:on for impairment. Amortlsauon is
charged so as to write-off the cost, less estimated résidual value, of assets on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives of between two and five years. Amortisation is included with depreciation and classnﬁed as -administrative
expenses. No nntanglble assets have lndeﬁmte lives.

$'000
Cost: . .. . . . )
At 1 January 2022 . o o ‘ 1,417
Additions . : . - —
Disposals . . . (1,417)

At 31 December 2022 ) : ) —
Accumulated impairment / accumu lated amortisation:

At 1 January 2022 - : - - (1,417)
‘Amortisation charge for 2022 : . . B .
Exploration expenditure impaired in 2022 : . 4 ’ —
Disposals . ) . . ) 1,417)
At 31 December 2022 . B ' . . —
Net book value at 31. December 2022 ) —_
Net book value at 31 December 2021 ) . V=

See note 2.3 of the Consolldated Flnancnal Statements regardlng the mutual termination of the LLA-50 licence dunng
the year.

Section 3 - Investrhents in subsidiaries

, 3.1iInvestments -

The Company's investments in subsidiary companies are mcluded in the Company Balance Sheet at cost, less
" provision for any impairment. .

The Company’s fixed asset investment of $7.3 million represents the historic cost of acquisition of the entire share
capital of Gulfsands Petroleum Ltd by means of a share-for-share exchange in 2005, less any required provision for
" impairment.

The Company's mvestments in subsndlary undertakings are shown in note 41 to the Consohdated Financial
Statements.
Section 4 — Working Capital
" 4.1.Trade and other receivables '
Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amounts less any provision made for impairment of receivables. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be
,able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the debt.

v
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* 4.1 Trade and other receivables (continuéd) . : R
2022 2021

$:000 - . %000
Current ;
Other receivables o : o ’ . 28 21
Prepayments ) ' : 139 ‘ 161
- 167 182
Non-current s . ) .
Amounts due from subsidiaries ' : . 54,461 53,547

Further détails on the amounts due from subsidiaries are included in note 6.7.

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents .

Cash and cash equnvalents comprise cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand by banks and other short-term
investments with original ‘maturities of three months or ‘less. Balances held in bank accounts subject to escrow’
agreements as collateral for-performance bonds issued are excluded from cash and cash equivalents and are shown
as long-term financial assets.

. 2022 s 2021

4 . : : : $'000 $'000

Cash at bank and in hand ) o ) 1,065 . 722
Total cash and cash equivalents o - . 1,065 - 722

4.3 Long-term financial assets :
Long-term financial assets comprise balances held in bank accounts subject to escrow agreements as collateral for
performance bonds issued.

- 2022 2021

$'000 $'000
Restricted cash balances ' : ) —_ © 4,781
Provision against recovery of restricted cash balances = - © (1,781) --

Total cash and cash equnvalents . — C—

" Following confiration of the mutual termination of the LIanos 50 licence, £1.22 million (~$1.52 mllllon) of this restncted
cash was released back to the Company by the ANH in May 2022.

4.4 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal values._ PR -
2022 i 2021
$'000 $'000
Current . » : ' :
Trade payables i : ‘43 6
Accruals and other payables B 218 ) 185

261 - 191

4.5 Loans and borrowmgs .
See note 3.6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. =

Sectuon 5 - Results for the Year ) ) .
5.1 Revenue recognition ) ’ : -
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstandlng and at the effective rate apphcable

Income Statement and total revenue
No individual Income Statement is presented in respect of the Company as penmtted by section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006. The Company's loss for the year was $0.5 million (2021: $3.6 million). There'was no revenue during 2022,
as defined by IFRS15 Revenue Recognition (2021: nil). The Company operates in one segment, that of the provision
of services to Group undertakings, and in one geographical area, the United Kingdom. .

: {
5 2 Leases ‘ :

Rentals payable under Ieases are charged to the Income Statement ona stralght -line basis over the lease term.

Obligations under leases :

At the end of the year the Company had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
leases in respect of land and buildings of $0.002 million (31 December 2021: $0.002 million) within one year and $nil
(31 December 2021: $nil) between two and five years. ’

5.3 Share-based payments
_See note 5.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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5.4 Taxation

Current tax :

Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) usmg the tax rates
and laws that'have been’ enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax :

No deferred tax assets have been prov:ded in respect of.losses carmied forward in the UK and other temporary timing
differences as the Board does not.consider it probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be made to offset the
deductions represented by those deferred tax assets. ;

Deferred tax assets and Iiabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates and laws that will be in

* effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is evaluated annually
and an impairment provision is provided if it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not give rise to future
benefits in the Company 's tax retums.

Deferred.tax assets/(liabilities) ) ’
2022 © 2021

: : . $'000 ) $'000
Tax losses carried forward. : } ) 11,088 10,449
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances ’ 190 . 144
Unprovided deferred tax asset  {11,278) ) - {10,593)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 31 December I - — : —

The main corporation tax rate in the UK increased from 19% to 25% on 1 April 2023, which has already impacted the .
rate at which deferred tax is recognised due to this being substantively enacted as at 31 December 2022.

4 The tax losses of the Company have no expiry date.

5.5 Earnings per share
No eamings per share mformatlon is shown as the Company is. not requnred to present an lncome Statement.

- Section 6- Capital Structure and Other Dlsclosures
Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company, belng any instruments with a residual interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all its fiabilities, are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the -
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
" orloss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Share premium account

The share premium account represents the amounts received by the Company on the issue of its shares which were
in excess of the nominal value of the shares. . . -
Retained earnings -

Cumulative net gains and losses recogmsed in the Statement of Cornprehenswe income less any amounts reflected
directly in other reserves. The share option reserve has been mcluded within the retamed deficit and is a non-
distributable reserve.

- 6.1 Share capital
See note 6.1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

6.2 Capital contribution reserve
See note 6.2to the Consolidated’ Fmancnal Statements.

6.3 Financial instruments, derivatives and capital management

- The financial risks of the Company are principally in respect of balances_ held in bank accounts and on deposrt and
balances owed to, or owed by, subsidiary undertakings. Balances owed to, or owed by. subsidiary undertakings are all
denominated in US Dollars. Other risks are managed on a unified basis with the Group and a full disclosure of these
risks is made in note 6.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The exposure of the Company to interest rate and
currency movements is not sngmﬁcan’( Given the 2017 Facility is convertible into equity by the Lenders or the Company,
and that the Company'’s equity and 2017, Facility are denomlnated in Pounds Sterling, foreign currency exposure of the
2017 Facility is not included in this analysis.
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6.3 Finafléial instruments, dérivatives and capital managemenf (continued)
- A summary of the financial assets of the Company is set out below:

Financial asset§ Financial assets

i on which . onwhich no .
interest is earned intérest is earned Total
$'000 . $'000 $'000
2022 . ’ . :
US Dollar . : 17 - ' 54,461 54,478
Pound Sterling . . 901 167 1,068
Euro : . ’ 147 : . L= 147
Other currencies - ) o ) — o
i 1,065 54,628 55,693
2021 ) . T . . . ’
US Dollar ’ ’ 22 ) - 53,547 - 53,569
Pound Stering 571 . 182 . 753
Euro . . 102 : : — 102
Other currencies ) 27 ) — 27
- . 722 . ' 53,729 54,451
A summary of the financial liabilities-of the Company is set out below:
’ . Financial
Financial liabilities liabilities
on which on which no
interest is earned interest is earned - Total
$:000 . $'000- $'000-
2022 ’ ] ’ .
US Dollar . - . ’ —_ . _
Pound Stering : 13,360 , 261 ©o13.621
Other currencies i ) - — -
) 13,360 . 261 13,621
2021 . ] . .o j .
US Dollar . — — —
Pound Sterling . 11,982 ) B 191 12,173
Other currencies . — o . —

11,982 191 - 12,173

Despite the 2017 Facility bearing no mterest under IFRS 9, interest is |mputed at 12% which is reflected in the table

above.

Note thét as at 31 December 2022, the Group had $14.9 million (£12.3 million) (2021: $15.0 million [£11.1 million]) of
debt outstanding including accnied interest and fees under the 2017 Facility. Under applicable accounting standards

(IFRS 9) this debt is represented in the balance sheet as $13.3 million debt liability and $3.3 million equity, totalling -

$16.6 million, to reflect the split between the discounted value of the debt and the value of the conversion option as a
result of the extension in December 2021.

See financial liabilities, note 6.3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, for further details.

6.4 Assets held by the Company

The Colombian Llanos 50-E&P contract was mutually terminated by the Company and the ANH in March 2022,
following which, the Group and Company had no capital commitments in respect of that licence. In May 2022, £1.22
miflion (~$1.52 miillion) of restricted cash was released back to the Company by the ANH- The deposits referenced |n
this note are shown as restricted cash amounts in note 4.3. .

There were no othér material obligations or contracts outstandmg in relatlon to ongoing pro;ects not provnded for in
‘these Financial Statements.

6.5 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the funchonal and repomng currency .of US Dollars at the rates
prevailing when the transactions occurred. Monetary assets and liabilities. denominated in foreign: currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date. All differences are taken to the Income Statement.

6.6 Employees

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Company, including Executwe Dlrectors was three (2021:
5). .
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6.7 Related party transactions
. (i) Transactions with Directors: Transactions with Directors are disclosed in note 6.4 to the Consalidated Financial
Statements and in note 3.6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Interests in shares and their remuneration and
. share options are disclosed in the Directors’ Corporate Goverpance Report on pages 33 - 34.

(ii) Transactions with subsidiary Companies: The Company traded with various undertakings within the same Group
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. IFRS 9 requires the Company to assess expected credit losses
on lntercompany loan receivables balances which are classified as held at amortised cost, under a forward-looking
model approach. The intercompany loans are interest free and repayable on demand.

The Directors have assessed the cash flows associated with a number of different recovery scenarios, which includes
consideration of the exploration project risk, country risk, the expected future oil prices, the value of the potential
reserves, the ability to sell the project, and the ability to find a new farm-out partner. The credit loss allowance was
assessed during 2022 and there was no increaseldecrease in the expected credit loss allowance (2021: $nil).

A summary of the transactions and outstandmg balances at the year-end is set out below

Balances owed by / (owed to) related partles . .
. 2022 . 2021

. Nature of - . ’ .
Name of related party . relationship . - Commercial terms $°000 $'000
Gulfsands Petroleum Ltd - Subsidiary. . Non-interest bearing 54,261 53,547 .
Gulfsands Middle East Limited Subsidiary * Non-interest bearing ; 200! =
Guifsands Petroleum MENA Ltd Subsidiary. . Non-interest bearing 2,500 2,500
. ' : Provision = - (2,500) (2,500)
Gulfsands Petroleum lraq Ltd Subsidiary Non-interest bearing 5,943 5,943
. o : Provision (5,943)  (5943)
Total ' B . 54,461 53,547
Services recharged to related parties : ) . :
: 2022 i " 2021
I Indirect Indirect’
Time writing overhead Time writing -~ overhead
Name of related party : $'000" : $'000 $'000 $'000.
Gulfsands Petroleum Levant Ltd 399 - : T4 —_

Gulfsands Middle East Limited -, o 70 - . = — —

' (iii) Controlling party: The parent company's immediate-contmlling party is Waigrford, and the ultimate controlling
pany is Waterford.

6.8 Post balance sheet event :
Post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 6.7 to the Consolldated Fmancnal Statemenls
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Glossary of Terms

DPC
E&E/E&P
ERCE
Fides
FDP .
G&A
GMEL
GPC
Gulfsands Levant
HCIIP .
HSSE
IFRS

km

km?

KPI

LLA 50

Low estimate (P90) Contingent Resources

Best estimate (P50) Contingent Resources
High estimate (P10) Contingent Resources
Agencia Nacional De Hidrocarburos i
Barrels of oil

- Billion cubic feet of gas

Barrels of oil equivalent
Barrels of oil per day

" Blake Holdings Limited

Competent Persons Report

Company Share Option Plan

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation

Dijla Petroleum Company

Exploration and evaluation / Exploration and production
ERC Equipoise Limited (Independent Energy Experts)
Fides Trust Limited

" Field Development Plan

General and administrative expenses
Gulfsands Middle East Limited

General Petroleum Corporation
Gulfsands Petroleum Levant Limited
Hydrocarbons Initially In Place

Health, safety, environment and security
International Financial Reporting Standards '
Kilometres

Square kilometres

Key performance indicator

Llanos Block 50

Major Shareholders Waterford and Blake

MENA
mmbbl
mmboe
mmsbt
NGLs
'NPV
OPC
P10

P50
P90

Possible Reserves

Probable Reserves

Proved Reserves

PRMS

PSC

SDG

SPE

UN

UK Sanctions

Waterford

Middle East and North Africa

Millions: of barrels of oil

Millions of barrels of oil equivalent

Million Stock Tank Barrels

Natural gas liquids

Net present value

QOilfield Production Consultants

There exists a 10% probability that the true quantity or value is greater than or equal to the stated
P10 quantity or value

There exists a 50% probability that the true quanmy or value is greater than or equal to the stated
P50 quantity or value

There exists a 90% probability that the true quantity or value is greater than or equal to the stated
P90 quantity or value

Possible Reserves are those additional reserves which analysis of geological and engineering
data suggests are less likely to be recoverable than Probable Réserves. The total quantities

‘ultimately recovered from the project have a low probability to exceed the sum of Proved plus

Probable plus Possible ("3P") Reserves, which is equivalent to the high estimate scenario. In this
context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be more than a 10% probability that
the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 3P estimate. .

Probable Reserves are those unproved reserves which analysis of geological and engineering
data .suggests are more likely than not to be recoverable. In this context, when probabilistic
methods are used, there should be more than a 50% probability that the quantities actually
recovered will equal or exceed the sum of estimated Proved plus Probable Reserves.

Proved Reserves are those quantities of petroleum which, by analysis of geological and -
engineerihg data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty (normally over 90% if measured on
a probabilistic basis) to be commercially recoverable, from a given date forward, from known
reservoirs and under defined .economic conditions, operating methods, and govemment
regulations.:

The 2007 Petroleum Resources Management classification system of the SPE

Production Sharing Contract -

Sustainable Development Goals

Society of Petroleum Engineers

United Nations ’

‘Sanctions applicable in the UK and to UK persons at any given time:

- for the period until and including 31 December 2020, EU sanctions, and the UK regulations
relating to them (including Regulation (EU) No 36/2012 and The Syria (European Union Fmancnal
Sanctions) Regulations 2012); and

- for the period from 1 January 2021 onwards, UK sanctlons made under the Sanctions and AML
Act 2018, including The Syria (Sanctions)(EU Exit) Regulatlons 2019

Waterford Finance and investment Limited
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Corporate Information .

Corporate headquarters
52 Grosvenor Gardens
London SW1W 0AU

United Kingdom

. www.quifsands.com
info@gulfsands.com:

T: +44 (0)20 3929 9476

Secretary and registered office
Ben Harber )

Shakespeare Martineau LLP

60 Gracechurch Street

London EC3V OHR

United Kingdom

. Regional offices

. Syria
Grand Floor # 2151
Bldg. # 103
Abdullah |Ibn Rawaha Street
Tanzeem Kafarsouseh
Damascus

Abu Dhabi :
2461 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square,
Al Maryah Island,

Abu Dhabi, )

United Arab Emirates

Auditor

MHA .
2 London Wall Place,
London, EC2Y 5AU
United Kingdom

Solicitors

Pinsent Masons LLP
141 Bothwell Street
Glasgow G2 7EQ
United Kingdom

Registrars
"Link Group ° .
10th Floor, Central Square
29 Wellington Street
Leeds LS14DL
United Kingdom

Secondary Trading Facility
Asset Match Ltd.

New Broad Street House

35 New Broad Street

London EC2M 1NH

United Kingdom
www.assetmatch.com
info@assetmatch.com

Compariy number
'05302880
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